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We continued to implement our established, long-term growth
strategies while focusing on “lean thinking” practices throughout
the company. This commitment to staying the course, despite the
internal challenges and difficult marketplace conditions confronting
our Aerospace division, has delivered progress in every area,
positioning Kaman for long-term growth and prosperity.

2004
WAS A YE AR OF  
PROGRESS
FOR EACH OF OUR 
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
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1.

Kaman Corporation Class A Common shares are traded on the Nasdaq Stock
Market under the symbol “KAMNA.” Kaman provides products and services
through three business segments:

KAMAN

AEROSPACE
Kaman produces aircraft 

structures and components for

commercial and military aircraft,

including widely used proprietary

aircraft bearings, provides various

advanced technology products for

critical specialized applications

including missile and bomb 

fuzing, and markets and supports 

its SH-2G Super Seasprite naval

helicopter and K-MAX medium-

to-heavy lift helicopter.

INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION
Kaman is one of the nation’s

larger distributors of power

transmission, motion control,

material handling and electrical

components and a wide range 

of bearings. Products and value-

added services are offered to 

a customer base of more than

50,000 companies representing 

a highly diversified cross-section

of North American industry.

MUSIC 
Kaman is the largest independent

distributor of musical instru-

ments and accessories, offering

more than 15,000 products for

amateurs and professionals.

Proprietary products include

Adamas®, Ovation®, Takamine®,

and Hamer® guitars; and Latin

Percussion® and Toca® hand per-

cussion instruments, Gibraltar®

percussion hardware and

Gretsch® professional drum sets.

 



Paul R. Kuhn
CHAIRMAN,  PRESIDENT,  AND
C H I E F  E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R
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Two thousand and four was a challenging year for Kaman

Corporation. At the same time, it was a year of real, measurable

progress for all three of our business segments. Two of our segments,

Industrial Distribution, (Kaman’s largest in terms of sales), and

Music, (which continues to hold a leadership position in its market),

delivered record sales, as did our Kamatics proprietary aircraft bear-

ing business within the Aerospace segment. Earnings increased for

each of these businesses in 2004, with both Music and Kamatics

recording record earnings for the year. These good results, however,

were overshadowed by adjustments taken in the Aerospace segment

as issues arose and we took the difficult but necessary actions to

address them.

In last year’s report, I wrote about progress we were making 

in bringing Kaman’s expanded Jacksonville aerostructures facility 

on line, in working toward U.S. Air Force qualification of the Joint

Programmable Fuze (JPF) at our Orlando operation, and in bringing

our SH-2G(A) helicopter program for Australia toward completion.

This year, we can report further progress on each of these programs:

Jacksonville has successfully worked through its start-up hurdles and

has been successful soliciting new work. Our Fuzing business achieved

qualification for the JPF program in April of 2004, and we continued 

to make progress toward completion of the program for Australia.

There is more about these developments later in this report.

What we still have before us includes completion of the Australia

program and achievement of the desired cost and delivery perform-

ance for the JPF program along with additional production orders as

T O  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S ,



4. this important new product continues to come on line. We must also

continue to attract new business for the Jacksonville facility, and the

process of identifying and correcting profitability issues in the

Aerospace segment must be satisfactorily concluded.

The strategies we established several years ago to build each 

of our business segments, along with the implementation of “lean

thinking” practices throughout the corporation, continue to bear

fruit, providing a solid foundation for future growth. In fact, I feel

confident that Kaman ended 2004 leaner and more focused than 

it began the year.

Financial Summary 
For the year ended December 31, 2004, Kaman reported a net loss of

$11.8 million, or $0.52 loss per share diluted, compared to net earn-

ings of $19.4 million, or $0.86 per share diluted, in the previous year.

The 2004 loss is primarily attributable to earnings adjustments total-

ing $41.6 million that resulted from actions taken during the year to

address issues in the Aerospace segment, including a non-cash sales

and pre-tax earnings charge of $20.1 million that eliminates the cor-

poration’s investment in contracts with MD Helicopters, Inc. (MDHI),

a $7.1 million non-cash adjustment to the corporation’s Boeing

Harbour Pointe parts and subassemblies contract and $2.0 million 

in severance costs associated with realignment of the Aerospace 

segment’s management team. The adjustments also include approxi-

mately $5.5 million in increased accrued contract costs associated

with completion of the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program, a

$3.5 million charge to provide for two product warranty-related 

fuzing issues at the Kaman Dayron facility, and a $3.4 million sales

and pre-tax earnings adjustment on the corporation’s EODC contract

with the University of Arizona to reflect the contract’s curtailed 

status as litigation of our claims against the University proceeds.

Several of these issues are now behind us or appear to be approach-

ing resolution. You will find detail about each of them in the

Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of this report.

In thousands except per share amounts 2004 2003

net sales $ 995,192 $ 894,499
net earnings (loss) (11,822) 19,405
total assets 562,331 528,311
per share amounts:

Net earnings (loss) per share
Basic $ (.52) $ .86
Diluted (.52) .86

Dividends declared .44 .44
Shareholders’ equity 12.48 13.40

F I N A N C I A L  
H I G H L I G H TS



5.Results for 2003 include an after-tax gain of $10.6 million, or 

$0.48 per share, from the sale of the corporation’s Electromagnetics

Development Center. Net sales were $995.2 million in 2004,

compared to $894.5 million in 2003, an increase of 11.3%. Kaman

maintained its quarterly dividend to shareholders in 2004, and 

has now paid dividends for 33 consecutive years.

In keeping with Kaman’s long-standing commitment to conser-

vative financial management, we continued to maintain relatively 

low levels of long-term debt over the year. This gives us the flexibility

to execute our strategies and position each business segment for

growth despite fluctuations in the markets in which we compete.

Aerospace Segment
Kaman’s Aerospace segment produces aircraft structures and com-

ponents for commercial and military aircraft including specialized

aircraft bearings, provides various advanced technology products for

critical specialized applications including missile and bomb fuzing,

and markets its K-MAX and SH-2G Super Seasprite helicopters.

2004 RESULTS The Aerospace segment had an operating loss of

$14.3 million in 2004 as a result of the $41.6 million in adjustments

listed above, $3.3 million in idle facility and related costs, and $0.4

million in relocation and recertification costs related to closure of 

the company’s Moosup, Connecticut plant, compared to an operating

profit of $14.8 million in 2003. Results for 2003 include the effect 

of $3.6 million in relocation and re-certification costs related to the

Moosup plant closure and $1.4 million in idle facilities and related

costs. Sales for the year were $252.4 million, including the effect of

an $18.2 million negative sales adjustment for the MDHI program,

compared to $251.2 million in 2003.

PROGRESS Despite the challenges represented by these 

adjustments, we continued to make progress across the Aerospace

segment. In 2004, Kaman realigned the Aerospace segment into 

new operating divisions: Kaman Aerostructures, responsible for the

Kaman Aerospace Jacksonville and PlasticFab Wichita operations;

Kaman Fuzing, responsible for the Kaman Aerospace Middletown

and Kaman Dayron Orlando operations; and Kaman Helicopters,

Our Aerospace segment 
is now comprised of 

four major divisions.

AEROSTRUCTURES FUZING

HELICOPTERS KAMATICS



6. responsible for the Kaman Aerospace Bloomfield operations. These

divisions join Kamatics (including RWG, the corporation’s German

aircraft bearing manufacturer) to make up the four major operating

elements of the segment. The corporation expects that each division

will be better able to effectively control expenses for the services and

functions they require, and achieve optimal customer service. We are

particularly pleased with the 2004 performance of our Kamatics sub-

sidiary, which shows continued strong growth potential in both its

commercial and military markets.

One issue the corporation has reported on in some detail is the

time and expense involved with the relocation of certain aircraft

structures and components operations to Jacksonville, Florida, and

the adverse effect the transition has had on segment profitability.

While we are still on a learning curve, significant progress has

already been made in improving performance metrics and reestab-

lishing levels of customer satisfaction. The corporation received a

significant new contract for the Jacksonville facility involving pro-

duction of pilot cockpits for four models of the Sikorsky BLACK

HAWK helicopter. This new work should help establish an adequate

business base and improve profitability at that plant.

The corporation has also reported on the delays experienced in

achieving qualification for the Joint Programmable Fuze. In 2004, this

goal was achieved, and we received authorization from the U.S. Air

Force to enter the low rate initial production and delivery phase for

this product. We expect fuzing sales and profitability to improve as

deliveries to the U.S. military ramp up and be further enhanced once

orders are received from allied militaries.

Kaman also continued to make progress toward completion of the

11 SH-2G(A) helicopters for the Australia program. Due to the complex-

ity of the integration process and testing results that indicate additional

work to be done, the corporation recorded an additional $5.5 million

accrued contract loss during the year to reflect the current estimate of

costs to complete the program.The Australian government provisionally

accepted eight of the helicopters in 2004, and the corporation currently

expects to deliver the first fully operational aircraft by mid-year 2005

followed by the final acceptance process for all eleven aircraft.

Our SH-2G Super Seasprite naval
helicopter, now in service with
Egypt, New Zealand and Poland.

expanding the subcontract and advanced technology products
businesses through increased sales and marketing efforts
and strategic acquisitions.
pursuing additional sh-2g opportunities in the international
niche market for intermediate-size maritime helicopters.
further deploying lean thinking to improve manufacturing
performance and reduce costs.

A E R O S PA C E
S EG M E N T
ST R AT EG I ES



7.In January 2005, the U.S. Government selected an international

team that includes Lockheed Martin, Bell Helicopter, and

AgustaWestland to provide the next “Marine One” presidential 

helicopter. As a member of the winning team, Kaman anticipates 

that it will have the opportunity to share in the work being sourced

into the U.S.

We are confident that we have the appropriate strategies in place

to move the Aerospace segment forward, and the corporation will

move ahead with a renewed emphasis on lean thinking to further

improve manufacturing performance and reduce costs. The work 

we have done has helped see us through this difficult period, and 

I believe that as we continue to implement our strategies, our

Aerospace segment will once again contribute significantly to the

profitability of the corporation.

Industrial Distribution Segment 
Kaman’s Industrial Distribution segment, the third largest distributor

in its market, experienced an excellent year, reflecting the stronger

industrial economy, a growing geographic footprint, and competitive

success in the markets we serve.

2004 RESULTS Segment operating profit was $19.3 million for

2004, compared to $12.7 million for 2003. Sales for the year were a

record $581.8 million, including $28.3 million from an acquisition 

in the fourth quarter of 2003, compared to $497.9 million in 2003,

including $6.5 million from the acquisition.

These results reflect a strengthening industrial economy along

with the impact of cost control and process improvement initiated

during the manufacturing recession years of 2001–2003. They also

point to the appropriateness of the growth strategies we put in place

several years ago, including expanding the segment’s geographic

footprint, continued innovation in e-commerce, and driving operating

and asset utilization efficiencies through the enterprise.

PROGRESS Kaman continued to expand its geographic footprint

in 2004. New branches were opened in Toronto and Oklahoma City,

and the corporation acquired Brivsa de Mexico, a small Monterey,

Mexico, distributor that enhances the corporation’s ability to serve 

expanding geographic coverage in major industrial markets
that increase kaman’s ability to compete for regional and
national accounts.
providing industry leadership in e-commerce initiatives.
further enhancing operating and asset utilization 
efficiencies throughout the enterprise.

I N D U ST R I A L
D I ST R I B U T I O N
S EG M E N T
ST R AT EG I ES

Kaman distributes over one million
maintenance & repair and original

equipment items to more than
50,000 customers.



8. its national account customers having operations in this important

Mexican industrial center. The corporation brought a number of 

new national accounts on line during the year, including Tyco

International (US) Inc., Phelps Dodge, James Hardie, and Quad

Graphics. The corporation was also named a national distributor 

for IMI Norgren, Inc.’s fluid power products, offering Kaman an 

additional major line to sell through its entire U.S. branch network.

All of these developments have contributed to increased sales,

margins and market share.

The industrial environment continued to be strong throughout

the year and we remain optimistic about the prospects for 2005,

although we are keeping a very close eye on leading indicators as this

segment is quickly affected by changes in industrial production levels.

Music Segment
Kaman’s Music segment, the largest independent distributor of musi-

cal instruments and accessories in the U.S., delivered record sales

and earnings in 2004. Offering more than 15,000 products for ama-

teurs and professionals, the Music segment continued to expand its

market penetration with new customers and new products. Our strat-

egy of offering premium brands that are exclusive to Kaman has

worked well in the market and remains a focus for this segment.

2004 RESULTS Operating profit for the segment was $11.1 million

in 2004, compared to $9.5 million in 2003. Sales for the year were

$161.0 million, compared to $145.4 million the prior year.

PROGRESS Among the year’s highlights was the introduction 

of the Ovation LX series premium guitar, which is receiving high

acceptance ratings from players and positive reviews in the national

music trade press. The LX series has had a meaningful impact on our

sales of U.S. manufactured Ovation guitars. In addition, the competi-

tive positioning of our other brand name or exclusive distribution

products such as our Takamine, Adamas and Hamer guitars; and

Latin Percussion, Toca and Gretsch drums and other percussion

products helped to make 2004 a record sales year.

preserving kaman’s leadership position as the largest 
independent distributor of musical instruments and accessories.
building on kaman’s strong brand identity while adding 
new market-leading names to the corporation’s offering 
of proprietary products.
leading the market with distribution systems and technologies
that add value and reduce costs for the customer, suppliers 
and the corporation.

M U S I C  S EG M E N T
ST R AT EG I ES

Kaman’s Latin Percussion lines 
lead the market for hand 
percussion instruments.



9.Healthy consumer spending also had a positive impact on our

business during 2004, stimulating strong sales to the large national

retail chain stores and to the regional and local retailers, as well.

Sustaining Progress
For Kaman Corporation overall, the benefits of being diversified

were evident during 2004, as the effects of challenges faced by one of

our businesses segments were moderated by the strong perform-

ances of the others. At the same time, our commitment to

conservative financial management and operational efficiencies has

enabled us to continue to pursue our long-term strategic objectives.

As this review of the year’s operations illustrates, Kaman made

meaningful progress in each of its businesses during 2004, building 

a solid foundation for the future. We are making the tough decisions

and taking the difficult actions needed to position the corporation 

for future growth and prosperity.

Of course, as a member of the global business community, we,

like others, are affected by many forces that must be addressed with

skill in an increasingly competitive world. While certain segments of

our business are benefiting from the current state of the economy,

concerns over high energy prices, currency fluctuations, and the 

war against terrorism are issues that can have material effects on 

the landscape. Generally, however, there is cause for optimism.

Once again, we are grateful to the nearly 3,600 employees of

Kaman who continue to drive progress across each of our busi-

nesses. I would also like to express my appreciation to our 

customers, suppliers and shareholders who continue to place their

confidence in our corporation.

Paul R. Kuhn
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Kaman’s aerospace business has confronted 

difficult challenges. Nevertheless, 2004 was a 

year of significant progress on several fronts

within the segment.

PROGRESS AT THE JACKSONVILLE AEROSTRUCTURES

PLANT A significant strategic objective of the 

corporation over the past several years had been 

to expand the aerostructures subcontract portion

of the business. Over time, it became clear that

achieving that objective would be both costly and

potentially disruptive, as it required a major facility

relocation. Despite the serious downturn in the

aviation industry that followed the 9/11 attacks,

we decided that it was important to move 

forward with our plans. In 2003, we closed 

our old and inefficient plant complex in Moosup,

Connecticut, and began the process of bringing 

our modern, expanded facilities in Jacksonville,

Florida on line.

While relocating at a time when business was

soft had its advantages from a workflow stand-

point, the lower level of business available in the

industry – along with the normal complexities of

training new workers and requalifying manufac-

turing processes at the new plant – contributed 

to losses at the new facility.

During 2004, Kaman completed much of the

requalification task at the Jacksonville plant and

began to win new business, including a $27.7 

million contract involving the production of 84

pilot cockpits for the Sikorsky BLACK HAWK 

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

WE IMPROVED EFFICIENCY 
AT OUR 

Jacksonville facility,
WITH ORDERS FROM 

NEW CUSTOMERS 
COMING ON LINE.
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to $100 million for up to 349 units over a five-year

period. The progress signaled by these accomplish-

ments is expected to contribute meaningfully

toward establishing Jacksonville as a well-

performing, profitable manufacturing facility 

for Kaman.

PROGRESS AT OUR KAMATICS SUBSIDIARY

Kamatics achieved record sales and earnings in

2004, and added to its order backlog with good

market penetration for its highly proprietary 

products amid signs of recovery in the aircraft-

manufacturing environment.

A principal objective of the corporation has

been to create a balance of military and commer-

cial business for Kamatics lines of proprietary

self-lubricating bearings for aircraft flight controls,

turbine engines, landing gear, and other highly

critical applications. In 2004, growth in both the

military and commercial sectors contributed to 

the record results.

A related objective has been for Kamatics

products to be designed into or requested for

replacement use on the broadest possible roster

of aircraft manufactured in North and South

America, and in Europe. In 2004, almost every 

jet-powered aircraft built in these regions had

Kamatics components on board, including over

700 bearings on each Boeing 777 and Airbus

A380. In addition, over 2,500 of our German 

subsidiary, RWG’s, bearings are being purchased

for use on each Airbus A380.

A E R O S P A C E

OUR 
Kamatics aircraft
bearing business 

RECORDED STRONG 
SALES AND

OPERATING PROFITS.
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PROGRESS IN OUR FUZING BUSINESS

Kaman entered the military fuzing business 

with its acquisition of Raymond Engineering in

Middletown, Conn., in the 1980s, and since that

time has been a major supplier of missile system

fuzing devices for the U.S. and its allies. Seeing

potential to become over time the nation’s leading

provider of fuzes for precision guided munitions,

Kaman purchased Dayron, a maker of bomb 

fuzes in 2002.

A primary motivation for the acquisition 

was Dayron’s contract to develop the Joint

Programmable Fuze (JPF) for applications on 

U.S. Air Force and Navy bomb systems. As with 

any project to bring forth new technology, there

was risk as well as the potential for growth.

Following years of progress toward achieving 

qualification of the fuze, that goal was reached in

April of 2004, and the fuze went into initial low

rate production under a U.S. Air Force contract that

could reach $169 million over the ten-year life of

the contract with all options exercised. Contract 

production Lots 1 and 2 have now been released

for production through 2006.

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

OUR 
Joint Programmable

Fuze (JPF) 
RECEIVED QUALIFICATION 

AND ENTERED PRODUCTION.



P R O G R E S S  I N Industrial Distribution

14.



15.

The Industrial Distribution segment, Kaman’s

largest in terms of sales, achieved record sales 

in 2004. Over the course of the year, the segment

continued to implement its strategies, building 

on its strong foundation for the future.

PROGRESS IN EXPANDING GEOGRAPHIC COVERAGE

Kaman has a strong presence in 70 of the top 

100 industrial markets in the United States.

With nearly 200 locations in the U.S., Canada and

Mexico the corporation serves over 50,000 local

businesses and large national enterprises repre-

senting a widely diverse cross section of North

American industry. A principal strategy for grow-

ing the Industrial Distribution segment has been

to gradually but continually expand our geo-

graphic coverage, both through acquisitions and

branch openings, into those additional major

industrial markets that increase our ability to

compete for large regional and national 

multi-location accounts.

Over the past five years, the corporation

increased its footprint with more than 10 new 

markets entered. In 2004, for instance, Kaman

completed the integration of its 2003 acquisition 

of Industrial Supplies, Inc. having branches 

in Birmingham, Montgomery, Decatur, and 

Muscle Shoals, Alabama, as well as in Pensacola,

Florida, and opened a new branch in Oklahoma

City, Oklahoma.

In Canada, we entered the Toronto market 

to serve national accounts, including a large

expanded customer relationship. These facilities

will serve as the platform for bringing on new

business relationships in that vital market.

In addition, Kaman acquired a branch in Monterey,

Mexico, to serve customers having operations in

that important Mexican industrial center.

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

We expanded 
our footprint 

BY ENTERING MORE THAN 
10 ADDITIONAL TOP 100

INDUSTRIAL MARKETS OVER
THE PAST FIVE YEARS.
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PROGRESS IN DEVELOPING RELATIONSHIPS WITH

NATIONAL ACCOUNTS Today’s increasingly compet-

itive business climate is challenging every business

to obtain the maximum return from every dollar

invested in order to grow and in some cases to sur-

vive. Companies are scrutinizing every business

procedure and every expenditure, looking for ways

to increase efficiency and lower costs. One result of

this trend is that the larger companies have found

it beneficial to concentrate their purchases with 

a reduced number of very capable suppliers that

provide broad regional and national coverage 

and an array of cost-saving value-added services.

Kaman is often the supplier of choice for those

making that analysis.

Kaman’s mission is to provide timely access to

the finest power transmission, motion control, and

related products and services available. We also

assist customers in identifying opportunities to 

utilize these critical maintenance and production

items in ways that help them increase efficiency,

reduce downtime, and lower production costs. This

is one of Kaman’s strongest commitments to our

customers, and represents a key insight into how

we compete for the large regional and national

multi-location accounts that now represent

approximately 20% of annual segment sales.

Kaman’s application experts offer customers

seasoned guidance and experience-based insights

that enable them to solve complex business and

production challenges. This has enabled us to com-

pete successfully with larger competitors. In 2004,

additional progress was made in the national

account arena, with considerable effort expended

to implement our new national accounts with Tyco,

Phelps Dodge, James Hardie, and Quad Graphics.

I N D U S T R I A L  D I S T R I B U T I O N

KAMAN CONTINUED TO
BUILD ITS NATIONAL 

ACCOUNT BUSINESS BY
helping customers
increase efficiency.
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PROGRESS IN DRIVING ORDER-FLOW THROUGH 

ACCURACY TO 99.97% Industrial distribution has

become a complex and specialized business.

Earning the privilege of serving the more than

50,000 industrial distribution customers who place

their trust in Kaman involves a commitment to

having the products that each customer depends

on to keep its machinery and production processes

running. Equally important, it requires the ability

to apply those products in innovative ways that

help the customer increase production throughput.

It also demands a superior means of delivering

these critical goods economically and rapidly to

ensure the customer’s production up-time is at 

the maximum possible level at all times.

Kaman’s catalogue includes more than a 

million items from many of the world’s premier

suppliers such as Baldor Electric Company,

Danaher Motion, Emerson (EPT), Falk Corporation,

Gates Corporation, Martin Sprocket & Gear,

Rexnord Industries, Rockwell Automation, SKF,

and The Timken Company. Kaman brings the 

highest quality maintenance and repair, and origi-

nal equipment goods to the market. If it involves

rotational, linear, conveying, or multi-axis move-

ment and control, Kaman has the products. What’s

more, we deliver approximately 80% of each day’s

orders within just one day, and back it all up with

experienced technical support.

What makes this performance possible is a

culture of continuous improvement. Kaman is

trailblazing new ways to process inventories and

automate the flow-through of goods to the cus-

tomer. In 2004, Kaman’s distribution center order

accuracy rate, already among the industry’s high-

est, reached 99.97%, a company record.

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

OUR DISTRIBUTION CENTER
ORDER ACCURACY 

RATE, ALREADY AMONG 
THE INDUSTRY ’S 

HIGHEST, REACHED 
99.97%.
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Kaman is the nation’s largest independent distrib-

utor of musical instruments and accessories.

In 2004, the Music segment continued to make

progress building on its successes, and reported

record sales and earnings for the year.

PROGRESS IN ADVANCING A KEY MARKETING

STRATEGY As the market leader, Kaman sells more

than 15,000 products through a nationwide network

that includes both the large national retail establish-

ments and the smaller regional and local music

stores. Offering the products consumers want, of

course, is crucial to long-term success. Offering

exclusive top-selling brands that the retailer can

obtain only through Kaman – either because Kaman

manufactures the product for the world market or

because the corporation has negotiated exclusive

distribution rights – is a significant advantage and

an important strategic objective of the corporation.

Kaman focuses on key segments of the music

market: guitars, percussion instruments and acces-

sories. We offer top-of-the-line instruments and

gear for professional artists as well as a wide array

of instruments ranging down through the various

skill and price levels to the beginner. Over the past

several years, our catalogue of exclusive product

offerings has been expanded substantially through

acquisitions and distribution contracts.

Today, Kaman products are hard to miss:

consumers see them being played in music videos

and on the concert stage by giants in their fields

including Bruce Springsteen, Toby Keith, Melissa

Etheridge, Garth Brooks and many others.

Consumers interested in a Kaman guitar, whether

it be an Adamas, Ovation, Hamer or Takamine 

guitar, or percussion instruments and equipment

such as a set of Gretsch, Toca or Latin Percussion

drums, or Gibraltar hardware, can find the 

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

OUR MUSIC SEGMENT 
had a record year, 

WITH EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS TO
TOP-SELLING BRANDS.
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products described and showcased on-line at,

and then can see, play, and purchase them through

their local retailer.

PROGRESS IN ENHANCING THE STRONG KAMAN

MUSIC BRAND IDENTITY Because consumers shop-

ping for a guitar or drum set tend to look for the

brand of instruments their favorite recording

artists are using, Kaman’s brand identity is

enhanced every time our products are taken on

stage. We therefore work hard to keep our instru-

ments in the public eye for the broadest possible

exposure. This involves research, engineering and

a process of continual updating so that our instru-

ments have the visual appearance and the sound

characteristics that performing artists want.

In 2004, several product advances led to a 

significant enhancement of the corporation’s 

signature Ovation guitar line. The new LX Series

Ovation guitars feature a huge, deep and rich

sound while preserving the legendary Ovation 

balance and clarity. A new preamp gives the instru-

ment arena-sized sound. Inlays are set with laser

precision for a cleaner design that also delivers an

element of sound enhancement. A new material

with microspheres cuts one-third of the original

bowl’s weight and improves sound reflection. An

advanced neck system and carbon fiber stabilizers

keep the fingerboard perfectly aligned. These gui-

tars’ unparalleled playability, superior acoustic and

electric sound, and attractive appearance have won

excellent reviews in the trade press. Sales have

exceeded production capacity, and the corporation

had to increase production repeatedly through the

year to meet the demand.

M U S I C

SEVERAL PRODUCT ADVANCES
LED TO A SIGNIFICANT

ENHANCEMENT OF 
Kaman’s signature 
Ovation guitar line.



21.

PROGRESS BUILDING ON KAMAN’S OPERATIONAL

EXCELLENCE Having the products consumers 

want when they want them is a basic competitive

requirement. Kaman has met that challenge,

and adds to it the competitive advantage of a 

well-focused effort to lead the market in distribu-

tion technologies.

Kaman has invested in the hardware, software

and support staffing needed to offer customers more

information and greater convenience than is cur-

rently available anywhere else. Customers can

register on to use this password-protected site 24

hours a day, 7 days a week to obtain instant real-time

pricing, see the exact quantities of each item Kaman

has available in its warehouses, shop for specials,

place orders with an immediate order confirmation,

and check order status. This online channel is

intended to build new business with retailers 

looking for ways to improve operating efficiencies.

Meanwhile, large and medium national retail

chains that want business-to-business electronic

data interchange (EDI) capabilities are using

point-of-sale (POS) systems that create a data link

between their computers and ours. Kaman was

successful in linking its systems with those of two

major POS vendors in 2004 to automate the send-

ing and receiving of electronic purchase orders,

order acknowledgments, invoices and shipping

notifications – all business processes that tradition-

ally relied on time-consuming human intervention

and paperwork. Kaman was the first to implement

such systems in the music industry.

Customers using both of these electronic 

pathways have been enthusiastic. Last year,

approximately 25 percent of sales orders were

received and transmitted to the warehouse for

shipment with little or no manual intervention,

more than double the number of the prior year.

R E V I E W  O F  O P E R A T I O N S

IN 2004, 
Kaman linked 

its data systems, 
SHOWN HERE, 

WITH THOSE OF TWO MAJOR 
POINT-OF-SALE VENDORS.
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F I V E —Y E A R  S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D ATA
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S ,  S H A R E H O L D E R S  A N D  E M P L O Y E E S )

20041 20032,3 2002 2,3 20013 2000

operations
Net sales $ 995,192 $ 894,499 $ 880,776 $ 875,8695 $1,031,234
Cost of sales 770,285 671,591 723,1764 673,004 773,562
Selling, general and administrative expense 239,368 206,416 199,520 189,530 203,021
Net gain on sale of product lines and other assets (199) (18,163) (2,299) (2,637) —
Restructuring costs — — 8,290 — (1,680)
Other operating income (1,731) (1,448) (1,302) (1,076) (1,092)
Operating income (loss) (12,531) 36,103 (46,609) 17,048 57,423
Interest expense (income), net 3,580 3,008 2,486 623 (1,660)
Other expense, net 1,053 1,265 1,831 761 1,363
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (17,164) 31,830 (50,926) 15,664 57,720
Income tax benefit (expense) 5,342 (12,425) 17,325 (3,950) (20,800)
Net earnings (loss) (11,822) 19,405 (33,601) 11,714 36,920

financial position
Current assets $ 450,335 $ 418,851 $ 414,245 $442,651 $ 482,000
Current liabilities 226,105 160,555 157,094 141,260 173,342
Working capital 224,230 258,296 257,151 301,391 308,658
Property, plant and equipment, net 48,958 51,049 61,635 60,769 63,705
Total assets 562,331 528,311 535,540 521,946 553,830
Long-term debt 18,522 36,624 60,132 23,226 24,886
Shareholders’ equity 284,170 303,183 291,947 333,581 332,046

per share amounts
Net earnings (loss) per share – basic $ (.52) $ .86 $ (1.50) $ .52 $ 1.61
Net earnings (loss) per share – diluted (.52) .86 (1.50) .52 1.57
Dividends declared .44 .44 .44 .44 .44
Shareholders’ equity 12.48 13.40 13.00 14.97 14.92

Market price range 15.49 14.91 18.81 19.50 17.75
10.71 9.40 9.42 10.90 8.77

average shares outstanding
Basic 22,700 22,561 22,408 22,364 22,936
Diluted 22,700 23,542 22,408 23,649 24,168

general statistics
Registered shareholders 5,192 5,509 5,634 5,869 6,136
Employees 3,581 3,499 3,615 3,780 3,825

1: The 2004 results net of non-cash adjustments, of approximately $41,600 for certain programs with MD Helicopters, Inc., Royal Australian Navy,
Boeing Harbour Pointe and the University of Arizona, are further described in the Accrued Contract Losses and Accounts Receivable, Net Note
in the Financial Statements.

2: The corporation sold its Electromagnetics Development Center during first quarter 2003 and its microwave product lines during second quarter
2002 as further described in the Divestitures Note in the Financial Statements.

3: Includes the activity of certain significant entities from date of acquisition as further described in the Acquisitions Note in the Financial
Statements including: Industrial Supplies, Inc – 2003; Latin Percussion, Inc., RWG Frankenjura-Industrie Flugwerklager GmbH, Dayron,
equity interest in Delamac de Mexico S.A. de C.V.– 2002; Plastic Fabricating Company, Inc. and A-C Supply, Inc.– 2001.

4: Costs of sales for 2002 includes the write-off of K-MAX inventories and fixed assets and Moosup facility assets of $50,000 and $2,679, respectively
and $18,495 of accrued contract loss for the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program, all of which are associated with the Aerospace segment.

5: Results for 2001 were adversely impacted by a second quarter sales and pre-tax earnings adjustment of $31,181 attributable to the 
Aerospace segment and the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program.
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Results of Operations

OV E RV I E W

Kaman Corporation is composed of three business seg-

ments: Aerospace, Industrial Distribution, and Music.

During 2004, the Aerospace segment’s programs were

conducted through three principal businesses, consisting of

Aircraft Structures and Components, Advanced Technology

Products, and Helicopter Programs.

The Aircraft Structures and Components business

involves commercial and military aircraft programs,

including proprietary aircraft bearings, the production of

aircraft subassemblies and other parts for commercial air-

liners as well as the C-17 military transport, and helicopter

subcontract work. For the year 2004, this business consti-

tuted about 46 percent of Aerospace segment sales,

compared to about 48 percent in 2003. Sales for this busi-

ness in 2004 were adversely affected by an $18.2 million

negative sales adjustment associated with a non-cash sales

and pre-tax earnings charge recorded in connection with

the MD Helicopters, Inc. (“MDHI”) program, which is dis-

cussed below.

The Advanced Technology Products business manufac-

tures products for military and commercial markets,

including safe, arm and fuzing devices for a number of

major missile and bomb programs; and precision measuring

systems, mass memory systems and electro-optic systems.

For the year 2004, this business constituted approximately

25 percent of segment sales compared to about 22 percent 

in 2003.

Helicopter Programs include the SH-2G Super Seasprite

multi-mission maritime helicopter and the K-MAX

medium-to-heavy external lift helicopter along with spare

parts and support. For the year 2004, this business consti-

tuted about 29 percent of segment sales compared to about

30 percent in 2003.

The Industrial Distribution segment is the third largest

North American industrial distributor servicing the bear-

ings, electrical/mechanical power transmission, fluid 

power, motion control and materials handling markets.

This segment offers more than 1.5 million items as well 

as value-added services to a base of more than 50,000 

customers spanning nearly every sector of industry from 

its geographically broad-based footprint of nearly 200 

locations in the United States, Canada, and Mexico.

The Music segment is the largest independent distributor

of musical instruments and accessories in the United States,

offering more than 15,000 products for amateurs and 

professionals. While the vast majority of segment sales 

are to North American customers, the segment has been

building its presence in European, Asian and Australian

markets as well.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the corporation’s

Industrial Distribution and Music segments and the

Kamatics subsidiary within the Aerospace segment each

reported record sales. Record earnings for the year were

also recorded in the Music segment and at Kamatics. This

positive performance was overshadowed by actions taken in

the Aerospace segment during the year that resulted in an

overall net loss of $11.8 million, or $0.52 loss per share

diluted, for the year. Results for 2004 include $41.6 million of

adjustments, $10.8 million of which were taken in the fourth

quarter to address issues related to Aerospace segment pro-

grams and contracts. Aerospace segment performance for

2004 reflects difficulties experienced in various operations,

including principally the MDHI program, the Australia 

SH-2G(A) program, the Boeing Harbour Pointe program,

the Electro-Optics Development Center (“EODC”) contract

dispute with the University of Arizona, and two product

warranty-related issues at the Dayron operation. In each

case, necessary actions have been taken, or are in the

process of being taken, to resolve the issues. Early in the

year, a reconfiguration of the segment’s management struc-

ture was undertaken to better focus management activities

on the segment’s differing operations by developing sepa-

rate operating divisions within the Aerospace subsidiary.

For 2003, the corporation experienced net earnings of

$19.4 million, or $0.86 per share diluted, including an after-

tax gain of $10.6 million, or $0.48 per share, from the sale

that year of the corporation’s Electromagnetics Development

Center business in the Aerospace segment.

For discussion of the operations of, and factors affecting,

each of these business segments, please refer to the specific

discussions below.
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R E S TAT E M E N T  O F  Q UA RT E R LY  E A R N I N G S

In conjunction with the year end financial reporting process,

the corporation has restated its statement of operations

beginning with the first quarter of 2004 to correct its

accounting by recording a cumulative catch-up pre-tax

adjustment of approximately $0.7 million in rent expense

and related deferred rent liability pertaining to lease

accounting as well as a negative sales adjustment of 

$0.5 million for the University of Arizona contract in the

Aerospace segment. The adjustment of $0.7 million modifies

the corporation’s historical accounting for rent holidays,

escalating rent and tenant allowances to amortize such

items on a straight line basis over the term of the lease

arrangement, specifically when the corporation takes pos-

session of the leased space, in accordance with Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 13 and FASB Technical

Bulletin No. 85-3. The corporation historically had

accounted for such escalating rent and rent holidays as

rental payments became due. In addition, in accordance with

FASB Technical Bulletin No. 88-1 “Issues Relating to

Accounting for Leases” the adjustment establishes a related

deferred liability for tenant allowances for a small number

of leases. The corporation has and will continue to present

such allowances as a component of cash flow from operating

activities on the consolidated statement of cash flows. The

adjustment has been included in income from continuing

operations. The adjustment of $0.5 million was made to

reverse net sales recorded in excess of costs incurred on the

claim element of the University of Arizona contract as fur-

ther described in the Accounts Receivable, Net and

Commitments and Contingencies notes. The corporation

further recorded net pre-tax adjustments of $1.0 million as 

a reduction to selling, general and administrative expenses.

The net adjustments relate to prior periods and consist of

recognition of $0.8 million of adjustments related to group

insurance, $0.4 million to reverse a product liability reserve

established by the Industrial Distribution segment and other

offsetting adjustments primarily related to establishing a

reserve for sales allowances in the Music segment of $0.3

million. Additional adjustments of which the majority relates

to the lease accounting and University of Arizona contract

were recorded during the second and third quarters of 2004

as presented in the Selected Quarterly Financial Data. The

impact of the above items was immaterial to prior year

financial statements.

TA B U L A R  P R E S E N TAT I O N  O F  F I N A N C I A L  R E S U LT S  

The following table summarizes certain financial results 

of the corporation and its business segments for calendar

years 2004, 2003, and 2002:

SEGMENT INFORMATION ( IN MILLIONS)

Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net sales:

Aerospace $ 252.4 $ 251.2 $ 275.9

Industrial Distribution 581.8 497.9 477.2

Music 161.0 145.4 127.7

$ 995.2 $ 894.5 $ 880.8

Operating income (loss):

Aerospace $ (14.3) $ 14.8 $ (55.2)

Industrial Distribution 19.3 12.7 12.3

Music 11.1 9.5 7.2

Net gain on sale of product
lines and other assets .2 18.2 2.3

Corporate expense (28.8) (19.1) (13.2)

Operating income (loss) (12.5) 36.1 (46.6)

Interest expense, net (3.6) (3.0) (2.5)

Other expense, net (1.1) (1.3) (1.8)

Earnings (loss) before 
income taxes (17.2) 31.8 (50.9)

Income tax benefit (expense) 5.4 (12.4) 17.3

Net earnings (loss) $ (11.8) $ 19.4 $ (33.6)

D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LYS I S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  
R E S U LT S  —  C O N S O L I DAT E D

The corporation’s consolidated net sales were up 11.3 

percent for 2004 compared to 2003 due to increased sales 

in the Industrial Distribution and Music segments and the

Kamatics subsidiary in the Aerospace segment. For the

Industrial Distribution segment, the increase reflects the

combined effects of an improved industrial economic envi-

ronment, a full year of the benefit from the fourth quarter

2003 acquisition of Industrial Supplies, Inc. (“ISI”), and

market share gains. For the Music segment, the increase
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reflects a good holiday season and demand for the segment’s

lines of branded musical instruments and accessories.

At Kamatics, the increase reflects improving conditions in 

commercial and military aviation markets.

Consolidated net sales for 2003 increased compared to

2002 due to increased sales in the Industrial Distribution and

Music segments. For 2003, the increase in Music was prima-

rily derived from the acquisition of Latin Percussion, Inc.

Sales and operating profits for 2003 were adversely affected,

however, by performance in the Aerospace segment.

Results for 2002 included pre-tax charges of $86.0 million

(of which $52.7 million was non-cash) taken in that year to

cover the write down of K-MAX helicopter assets, princi-

pally inventories; for cost growth associated with the

Australian SH-2G(A) helicopter program; and to phase out

operations at the corporation’s Moosup, Conn. plant, all

items in the Aerospace segment. Net sales for 2002 included

$61.7 million from acquisitions made during 2002 and 2001,

and $16.2 million from two divested Aerospace segment

business lines. Net sales for 2002 were also reduced by 

$6.5 million as a result of the adjustment for the Australia

helicopter program. Results for 2002 were also adversely

affected by weak economic conditions in the commercial

aviation and industrial markets served by the Aerospace 

and Industrial Distribution segments.

D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LYS I S  O F  N E T  S A L E S  
B Y  B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T  

AEROSPACE SEGMENT
Aerospace segment net sales were basically level for 2004

compared to 2003, while 2003 net sales decreased 9.0 percent

and 2002 sales decreased 8.5 percent compared to each 

of their immediately preceding years. A variety of factors

contributed to the continued weakness in 2004, including

principally, lack of new helicopter orders, the $18.2 million

negative sales adjustment associated with the elimination 

of the corporation’s investment in the MDHI program in the

third quarter, lack of sufficient work at the Jacksonville facility

(to which Moosup, Conn. aircraft structures and components

manufacturing operations were moved in 2003) and the delay

experienced in achieving final qualification for the joint 

programmable fuze program. Results for 2003 were adversely

affected by a variety of factors, including the weak market for

commercial airliners, which had caused order stretch-outs

and a lower volume of deliveries than anticipated for certain

Boeing programs, a lack of new helicopter orders, and the

stop-work mode of the MDHI program. The decrease in 2002

was due to the charges described above, declining revenues

from both the New Zealand SH-2G(NZ) program (which

was completed in early 2003) and the Australia SH-2G(A)

program, and a lack of new helicopter sales.

As mentioned above, corporate senior management

undertook a realignment of existing Aerospace subsidiary

operations in 2004, creating three new operating divisions

within that subsidiary. The purpose of the realignment was

to address differences among the segment’s various busi-

nesses and the changing markets they serve with the

expectation that each division will be in a position to effec-

tively control expenses for the services and functions that

they require and achieve optimal customer service. The

three new operating divisions are: Aerostructures, respon-

sible for the Aerospace subsidiary’s Jacksonville facility and

the PlasticFab operation in Wichita; Fuzing, responsible for

the Aerospace subsidiary’s Middletown, Conn. facility and

Dayron Orlando operations; and Helicopters, responsible 

for the Aerospace subsidiary’s Bloomfield, Conn. operation.

These divisions, together with Kamatics (including RWG

Frankenjura-Industrie Flugwerklager GmbH, the corpora-

tion’s German aircraft bearing manufacturer) constitute the

four principal operating elements of the Aerospace segment.

For the year 2004, results for the segment have been

reported in the traditional format. Beginning with results 

for the first quarter of 2005, the corporation will separately

report sales and discuss business developments for each of

the Aerospace subsidiary’s divisions and Kamatics.

aircraft structures and components – Aircraft

Structures and Components business involves commercial

and military aircraft programs, including proprietary aircraft

bearings produced and sold by Kamatics, the production of

aircraft subassemblies and other parts for commercial air-

liners as well as the C-17 military transport, and helicopter

subcontract work. Operations are generally conducted at the

Jacksonville and Wichita facilities, and at Kamatics located
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in Bloomfield. Sales for 2004 were $116.6 million, net of the

$18.2 million negative sales adjustment associated with the

MDHI program, compared to sales of $121.2 million in 2003.

Since the move from Moosup to the expanded

Jacksonville aircraft subassemblies and parts facility was

completed in 2003, sales volume at Jacksonville has not been

sufficient to achieve profitability at that location. Improving

performance metrics and reestablishing levels of customer

satisfaction continue to be a focus at the Jacksonville facility

and management believes that progress was made during

2004. For example, during 2004, Sikorsky Aircraft

Corporation awarded the corporation a multi-year contract

with an initial two-year value of $27.7 million under which

the corporation will manufacture the pilot cockpit for four

models of the Sikorsky BLACK HAWK helicopter. The initial

work covers approximately 84 units and includes installa-

tion of all wiring harnesses, hydraulic assemblies, control

pedals and sticks, seat tracks, pneumatic lines, and the com-

posite structure that holds the windscreen. The contract

includes follow-on options that, if fully exercised, would

include the fabrication of approximately 349 units, and bring

the total potential value of the contract to approximately

$100.0 million over five years.

In January 2005, the U.S. government selected an interna-

tional team that includes Lockheed Martin, Bell Helicopter,

and AgustaWestland to provide the next “Marine One” presi-

dential helicopter. As a member of the winning team, the

corporation anticipates that it will have the opportunity to

share in the work being sourced into the United States.

As previously reported, the corporation has multi-year

contracts with MDHI for production of fuselages for the

MDHI 500 and 600 series helicopters and composite rotor

blades for the MD Explorer helicopter. The corporation

stopped work on the program in 2003 due to payment issues

with this customer. It had been the corporation’s expectation

that MDHI would be successful in executing its strategy to

improve its then current financial and operational circum-

stances, however, in the third quarter of 2004 MDHI

management indicated that it had not thus far been able to

resolve the situation. As a result, the corporation recorded a

sales and non-cash pre-tax earnings charge of $20.1 million,

consisting of an $18.2 million negative sales adjustment 

and a $1.9 million addition to the corporation’s bad debt

reserve, to eliminate its investment in the program. The

charge is not expected to result in any future cash expendi-

tures. The corporation intends to maintain a business

relationship with MDHI should it be successful in improving

its financial and operational situation.

Also, as previously reported, the corporation’s Boeing

Harbour Pointe contract, relating to parts and subassemblies

for various Boeing aircraft, has generated a lower than

expected order flow and an unprofitable mix of work.

As a result of the corporation’s determination in the second

quarter of 2004 that future demand for these parts, many 

of which are associated with programs that Boeing is either

cutting back or eliminating, would be lower than previously

anticipated, it recorded a $7.1 million non-cash adjustment,

consisting of an estimated accrued contract loss of $4.3 mil-

lion and a valuation adjustment of $2.8 million associated

with portions of the program inventory.

Kamatics manufactures proprietary self-lubricating bear-

ings used in aircraft flight controls, turbine engines and

landing gear and produces driveline couplings for helicop-

ters. Market conditions improved during 2004 and the

company experienced increased order activity from Boeing,

Airbus and other customers in both the commercial and mil-

itary sectors. The company also increased production levels

to manage an increasing backlog during the year. Kamatics

parts are currently in use in almost all military and commer-

cial aircraft in production.

advanced technology products – This business

involves manufacture of products for military and commer-

cial markets, including safe, arm and fuzing devices for a

number of major missile and bomb programs, and precision

measuring systems, mass memory systems and electro-optic

systems. Principal operations are conducted at the

Middletown, Conn. and Dayron Orlando facilities. Sales for

2004 were $63.0 million, compared to $54.0 million in 2003.

In conjunction with the realignment of the Aerospace seg-

ment during the year, management has been working to

identify and correct certain internal operational issues 

that have adversely affected the Dayron Orlando facility.
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A $3.5 million charge was recorded in the fourth quarter

of 2004 to provide for two product warranty-related issues.

The first involves a supplier’s recall of a switch embedded 

in certain of Dayron’s bomb fuzes. The other involves bomb

fuzes manufactured according to procedures in place at the

time that Dayron was acquired by the corporation (July

2002) that have been found to contain an incorrect part.

Management is working with its customers and other parties

to resolve these issues appropriately.

Dayron has a contract with the U.S. Air Force for produc-

tion of the advanced FMU-152A/B joint programmable fuze

(“JPF”). This contract, which was the principal motivation

for the acquisition of Dayron, achieved final qualification in

the second quarter of 2004, about a year later than originally

anticipated. The JPF contract has a value of $13.6 million

covering low rate initial production and production of Lot 1

that extends through 2005 and includes options for eight

additional years of production, which, if fully exercised,

would bring the total potential value of the contract 

to $168.7 million. In the past few months, the Air Force has

released production for Lot 2 (including some additional

production) for $11.4 million. These releases under the con-

tract plus development and engineering activity along with

special tool and test equipment, bring the total to approxi-

mately $36.4 million to date. During the fourth quarter,

work continued on materials flow and manpower ramp-up 

to meet production requirements. Now that final qualifica-

tion has been achieved, the fuze is ready to market to 

allied militaries.

Since 2001, the EODC portion of this business (located 

in Tucson, Ariz.) had been teamed with the University of

Arizona (“University”) to build a 6.5-meter aperture colli-

mator that will be used for testing large optical systems in 

a vacuum environment. EODC had been working under a

$12.8 million fixed-price contract to design and fabricate the

structural, electrical, mechanical and software control sys-

tems for the collimator. EODC has experienced significant

cost growth in its portion of the program which it believes is

a result of changes in the scope of the project, and in April

2004 submitted a claim in the amount of $6.3 million to the

University to recover these additional costs. Having been

unable to satisfactorily resolve this matter, the company

filed suit against the University on September 17, 2004 to

recover these costs and stopped production on the program.

The University has since filed a counterclaim and the litiga-

tion process is ongoing. Although additional efforts were

made to resolve the matter out of court, it became clear

during the fourth quarter that EODC is not likely to com-

plete the project and therefore, a $3.5 million sales and

pre-tax earnings adjustment was recorded in the fourth

quarter to reflect the contract’s curtailed status.

helicopter programs – The segment’s helicopter prod-

ucts include the SH-2G Super Seasprite multi-mission

maritime helicopter and the K-MAX medium-to-heavy

external lift helicopter along with spare parts and support.

Operations are conducted at the Bloomfield, Conn. facility.

Sales for 2004 were $72.8 million, compared to $76.0 million

in 2003. The vast majority of these sales were attributable to

the SH-2G helicopter.

SH-2G programs have generally consisted of retrofit of

the corporation’s SH-2F helicopters to the SH-2G configura-

tion or refurbishment of existing SH-2G helicopters,

however no retrofit orders have been awarded since 1997.

The SH-2, including its F and G configurations, was origi-

nally manufactured for the U.S. Navy. The SH-2G aircraft is

currently in service with the Egyptian Air Force and the

New Zealand and Polish navies.

Work continues on the SH-2G(A) program for Australia

which involves eleven helicopters with support, including 

a support services facility, for the Royal Australian Navy

(“RAN”). The total contract has a current anticipated value

of about $738 million. The helicopter production portion of

the program is valued at approximately $605 million, essen-

tially all of which has been recorded as sales through

December 31, 2004. This contract has been in a loss position

since 2002, due to increases in anticipated costs to complete

the program. The in-service support center portion of 

the program has a current anticipated value of about 

$133 million of which about 31 percent has been recorded 

as sales through December 31, 2004.

Production of the eleven SH-2G(A) aircraft for the pro-

gram is essentially complete.The aircraft lack the full
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Integrated Tactical Avionics System (“ITAS”) software and

progress is continuing on this element of the program.The

Australian government provisionally accepted three addi-

tional helicopters during the fourth quarter of 2004, bringing

the number of aircraft now provisionally accepted to eight.

The corporation currently expects to deliver the first fully

operational aircraft by mid-year 2005, to be followed by the

final acceptance process for all eleven aircraft. Due to the

complexity of the software integration process and test

results that indicate additional work to be done, the corpora-

tion added $5.5 million to its accrued contract loss during the

year, $3.8 million of which was added in the fourth quarter, to

reflect the current estimate of costs to complete the program.

The corporation maintains a consignment of the U.S.

Navy’s inventory of SH-2 spare parts under a multi-year

agreement that provides the corporation the ability to utilize

certain inventory for support of its SH-2G programs.

The corporation continues to market the SH-2G heli-

copter on an international basis, however this market is

highly competitive and heavily influenced by economic 

and political conditions.

The corporation continues to support K-MAX helicopters

that are operating with customers, numbering less than

thirty. At December 31, 2004, K-MAX inventories included

approximately $20.1 million in K-MAX spare parts and $9.8

million in aircraft owned by the corporation. As previously

reported, the corporation wrote down the value of existing

aircraft, excess spare parts, and equipment inventories in

2002, following a market evaluation of the K-MAX heli-

copter program, which had experienced several years of

market difficulties.

INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION SEGMENT
Industrial Distribution segment net sales increased 16.9

percent for 2004, 4.3 percent for 2003 and 5.2 percent for

2002. Sales generated by ISI, which was acquired early in

the fourth quarter of 2003, contributed $28.3 million in 2004

and $6.5 million in 2003. Net sales for 2002 included $38.0

million from acquisitions made during 2002 and 2001. The

increase for 2004 also reflects an improved industrial eco-

nomic environment and market share gains.

This segment is the third largest North American indus-

trial distributor servicing the bearings, electrical/mechanical

power transmission, fluid power, motion control and mate-

rials handling markets. Products and value-added services

are offered to a customer base of more than 50,000 compa-

nies representing a highly diversified cross section of North

American industry. Because of its diversified customer base,

segment performance tends to track the U.S. Industrial

Production Index and is affected to a large extent by the

overall business climate for its customer industries, including

plant capacity utilization levels and the effect of pricing

spikes and/or interruptions for basic commodities such as

steel and oil. A weaker U.S. dollar is currently stimulating

customers’ export sales and the demand from China for raw

materials continues to benefit the segment’s locations that

participate in mining, steel and cement production markets.

Success in the segment’s markets requires a combination

of competitive pricing (with pricing pressures more pro-

nounced with respect to larger customers) and value-added

services that save customers money while helping them

become more efficient and productive. Management believes

that this segment has the appropriate platforms, including

technology, systems management and customer and supplier

relationships to compete effectively in the evolving and

highly fragmented industrial distribution industry. The seg-

ment’s size and scale of operations allow it to attract highly

skilled personnel and realize internal operating efficiencies,

and also to take advantage of vendor incentives in the form

of rebates, which tend to favor the larger distributors.

Management believes that the segment’s resources and

product knowledge enable it to offer a comprehensive

product line and invest in sophisticated inventory manage-

ment and control systems while its position in the industry

enhances its ability to rebound during economic recoveries

and grow through acquisitions.

Over the past several years, large companies have

increasingly centralized their purchasing, focusing on sup-

pliers that can service all of their plant locations across a

wide geographic area. To meet these requirements, the seg-

ment has expanded its geographic presence through the

selective opening of new branches and acquisitions in key
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markets of the upper midwest, the south, and Mexico.

The segment’s footprint of nearly 200 locations now covers

70 of the top 100 industrial markets in the United States.

Management’s goal is to grow the Industrial Distribution

segment by expanding into additional areas that enhance its

ability to compete for large regional and national customer

accounts. In the third quarter of 2004, the company acquired

Brivsa de Mexico, a small distributor located in Monterrey,

thus expanding the company’s ability to serve its national

account customers with operations in this important

Mexican industrial center.

During 2004, the segment implemented new national

account business with Tyco International (US), Inc., Phelps

Dodge, James Hardie and Quad Graphics. In addition, the

segment was named a national distributor for IMI Norgren,

Inc., providing an additional major line to sell through the

segment’s entire U.S. network. In the fourth quarter of the

year, Procter & Gamble, already a customer of the segment

in the U.S., selected the segment as its bearings and power

transmission supplier in Canada, complementing the seg-

ment’s U.S. business with this large national account

customer. The segment opened a new location in Toronto to

serve several national accounts while providing a platform

for expansion in the area.

From 1997 to the present, a total of forty-three legal 

proceedings (relating to approximately eighty-five individ-

uals) involving alleged asbestos-containing products have

been instituted against the corporation, virtually all of which

have involved this segment. In all proceedings, the corpora-

tion was one of many unrelated defendants.The proceedings

involving this segment relate primarily to products allegedly

supplied to the U.S. Navy by a company from which the 

segment acquired assets, more than twenty-five years ago.

Management believes that it has good defenses to these

claims. Nine of the proceedings were resolved with no 

payments being made. Six proceedings are outstanding at

this time. The remainder of the proceedings have been 

settled for an aggregate amount that is immaterial, with 

contribution from insurance carriers (who address these

matters on a case-by-case basis with no assurance of contri-

bution in any potential future case). Because of the

immaterial nature of these settlements in each instance and

in the aggregate, no reserve has so far been required. At this

time, management continues to believe that its overall expo-

sure to liability in these matters is de minimis in nature.

MUSIC SEGMENT 
Music segment net sales increased 10.7 percent in 2004,

13.9 percent in 2003 and 5.9 percent in 2002. Net sales for

2003 included $18.6 million generated by Latin Percussion,

a leading distributor of hand percussion instruments that

was acquired in October 2002, while net sales for 2002

included $3.7 million from Latin Percussion. There was good

demand for the segment’s lines of branded musical instru-

ments and accessories in 2004 and a reasonably good

Christmas season for the retail sector. Sales for both the

guitar and percussion lines were up for the year along with

continued growth in sales to both large and small retailers

with such products as Gretsch® drums and Sabian® cymbals.

The Ovation LX series premier guitar was also introduced in

2004 and has received high acceptance ratings from players

and positive reviews in the national music trade press.

The segment is the largest independent distributor of

musical instruments and accessories in the United States,

offering more than 15,000 products from several facilities in

the United States and Canada to retailers of all sizes world-

wide for professional and amateur musicians. The segment’s

array of fretted instruments includes premier and propri-

etary products, such as the Ovation® and Hamer® guitars,

and Takamine® guitars under an exclusive distribution

agreement. The segment has also significantly extended its

line of percussion products and accessories over the past

few years, augmenting its CB, Toca® and Gibraltar® lines to

include an exclusive distribution agreement with Gretsch

drums and acquiring Latin Percussion and Genz Benz 

(an amplification equipment manufacturer).

While the vast majority of the segment’s sales are to

North American customers, the segment has been building

its presence in European, Asian and Australian markets as

well. The business is affected by consumer sentiment as

retailers gauge how aggressively to stock for the holiday

selling season, and by actual consumer spending levels.
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It is also affected by changes in consumers’ musical tastes

and interests. Consequently, a principal strategy of the seg-

ment over the past several years has been to add popular

premier branded products that can be brought to market

exclusively by the segment.

An important industry trend of the past several years has

been consolidation in the retail market with the growth in

the very large retail chains. The concentration of sales to

these large customers is increasing and along with this is an

increase in pricing pressures. Management believes that it

has built upon its competitive advantages by creating and

maintaining industry-leading distribution systems and the

computerized business-to-business capabilities that large

national retailers increasingly require, while continuing to

support its traditional base of small retailers.

D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LYS I S  O F  O P E R AT I N G  P R O F I T S
B Y  B U S I N E S S  S E G M E N T

Operating profit is a key indicator utilized by management

in its evaluation of the performance of its business seg-

ments. Operating profits for the Industrial Distribution

segment increased 52.6 percent in 2004 and 2.7 percent in

2003, and declined 6.6 percent in 2002. Operating profits 

for the Music segment increased 16.6 percent in 2004, 32.9

percent in 2003, and 8.8 percent in 2002. The Aerospace 

segment had operating losses of $14.3 million for 2004 and

$55.2 million for 2002 and operating profits of $14.8 million

for 2003.

Results for 2004 reflect the impact of good U.S. industrial

production and consumer demand for the Industrial

Distribution and Music segments and the charges taken in

the Aerospace segment to address various program issues

discussed earlier in this report.

Results for 2003 reflect the impact on the corporation’s

businesses of weakness in the U.S. manufacturing sector

and commercial aircraft markets and the increasingly com-

petitive conditions resulting therefrom, in combination with

the costs associated with the transition from the Aerospace

segment’s Moosup facility to the Jacksonville facility and the

stop-work status of the MDHI program. The 2002 results

reflect difficult economic conditions in that year and include

the second quarter pre-tax charge of $86.0 million 

described earlier.

AEROSPACE SEGMENT
For 2004, the Aerospace segment had an operating loss of

$14.3 million, which includes $0.4 million in relocation and

recertification costs related to closure of the Moosup plant,

$3.3 million in idle facility and related costs, primarily asso-

ciated with the absence of new helicopter orders at the

Bloomfield facility, $41.6 million in adjustments involving

various aspects of the segment’s Aircraft Structures and

Components, Advanced Technology Products and Helicopter

Programs work (as discussed above in the Discussion and

Analysis of Net Sales by Business Segment), as well as $2.0

million in severance costs associated with management

realignment in the Aerospace subsidiary. This compares to

an operating profit of $14.8 million in 2003. Results for 2003

include the effect of $3.6 million in relocation and recertifi-

cation costs related to the Moosup plant closure and $1.4

million in idle facilities and related costs. Costs associated

with ongoing maintenance of the Moosup facility were pre-

viously accrued as part of the charge taken in 2002.

Kamatics was an important contributor to Aerospace seg-

ment operating results for the year 2004, partially offsetting

the Aerospace subsidiary’s operating loss for the period.

Since the expanded Jacksonville facility began operations in

mid-2003, sales volume has not been sufficient to achieve

profitability at that location, resulting in overhead and gen-

eral and administrative expenditures being absorbed at

higher rates by active programs and generally lower prof-

itability or losses for these programs. Improving

performance metrics and reestablishing levels of customer

satisfaction continue to be a focus at the Jacksonville facility,

and management believes that progress has been made in

this area. New orders, particularly the Sikorsky award

described above, are now coming on line and that should

help with the overhead absorption and profitability issue.

Management continues to believe that operating conditions

at the Jacksonville facility will improve and that the move

from Moosup to Jacksonville will ultimately provide a lower

cost structure from which to compete.

Having achieved final qualification for the JPF fuze in

2004, the fuze is now ready to market to allied militaries 

and management expects program profitability to 

improve as deliveries to the U.S. military ramp up and 
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be further enhanced once orders are received from 

allied militaries.

Results for the year 2003 reflect the impact of several

items, including costs associated with the move from the

Moosup facility to Jacksonville, the weak market for com-

mercial airliners, the absence of new helicopter orders, and

the stop-work mode of the MDHI program and included 

$3.6 million in ongoing relocation and recertification costs

related to the move from Moosup to Jacksonville and $1.4

million in idle facilities and related costs, most of which

relate to the Moosup facility. The result was lower sales

volume, which in turn resulted in overhead and general and

administrative expenses being absorbed at higher rates by

active segment programs, and thus generally lower prof-

itability or losses for these programs. Management directed

the move from Moosup, the corporation’s oldest facility, to

Jacksonville, a modern, expanded facility, in order to provide

a lower cost base from which to compete in the aerostruc-

tures subcontract arena. This move was essentially

completed in 2003. However, the transition generated addi-

tional costs associated with the phase-out of Moosup,

production man-hour performance in Jacksonville, which

had not achieved the levels that had existed on an overall

basis in Moosup, and FAA and customer requirements to

requalify manufacturing and quality processes in

Jacksonville. These factors resulted in lower profitability 

or losses in certain aerostructures programs.

For the year 2002, the Aerospace segment had an oper-

ating loss of $55.2 million, primarily due to the previously

described $86.0 million charge. Included in the second

quarter 2002 pre-tax charge was $11.0 million for the cost of

phasing out the corporation’s Moosup manufacturing plant.

The charge represented severance costs of about $3.3 mil-

lion at the Moosup and Bloomfield, Connecticut locations

which were expected to involve the separation from service

of approximately 400 employees, which severance liability

was fully settled as of December 31, 2004; asset write-offs of

about $2.7 million; and $5.0 million for the cost of closing

the facility (including costs associated with an ongoing vol-

untary environmental remediation program).

Management is currently in discussions with the U.S.

Naval Air Systems Command (“NAVAIR”) regarding the

potential purchase of a portion of the Bloomfield campus

that the Aerospace subsidiary currently leases from NAVAIR

and has operated for several decades for the principal pur-

pose of performing U.S. government contracts. Management

believes that ownership of the facility, which is currently uti-

lized for flight and ground test operations and limited parts

manufacturing, can be helpful to its ongoing operations.

As part of its decision-making process, the company is dis-

cussing with NAVAIR and General Services Administration

the method that would be used to calculate the purchase

price of the facility, which could possibly include the com-

pany undertaking some level of the environmental

remediation that may be legally required in the event of a

sale of the property. In applying the guidance of Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 “Accounting for

Contingencies”, the corporation’s management has con-

cluded that, while not probable, it is reasonably possible that

the corporation may agree to undertake some level of envi-

ronmental remediation, should the facility be sold to the

corporation. Based on the discussions so far, however, it is

not possible to determine the magnitude, if any, of such a

potential undertaking. Therefore, no liability for environ-

mental remediation at the facility has been recorded to date.

The corporation is also working with government and

environmental authorities to prepare the closed Moosup

facility for eventual sale.

INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION SEGMENT
Segment operating profits for 2004 were $19.3 million com-

pared to $12.7 million in 2003. These results reflect the

combined effects of an improved industrial economic envi-

ronment, a full year of benefit from the ISI acquisition, and

market share gains. The operating profits increase also

reflects the impact of cost control, process improvement,

and the company’s “lean-thinking” practices that were

implemented during the difficult economic times of the past

few years.Vendor incentives in the form of rebates (i.e., ven-

dors provide inventory purchase rebates to distributors at



33.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S  
O F  F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

specified volume-purchasing levels) were about the same

for 2004 and 2003, and while still important, represented a

smaller percentage of 2004 operating profits because of the

increase in business for the year. Operating profits for the

fourth quarter of 2004 were somewhat lower because the

segment’s stronger than expected results triggered

increased accruals for a ramp-curved incentive program

that rewards a wide range of branch managers and sales

personnel for their achievements.

Results for 2003 and 2002 reflect the weak economic per-

formance in the U.S. manufacturing sector that had existed

since the latter part of 2000. Because the segment’s cus-

tomers include a broad spectrum of U.S. industry, this

business is directly affected by national macroeconomic

variables such as the percentage of plant capacity utilization

within the U.S. industrial base and the business tends to

track the U.S. Industrial Production Index. Particularly in

that type of environment, vendor incentives were a major

contributor to the segment’s operating profits in both 2003

and 2002. In addition, cost controls and focus on working

capital investment helped performance.

MUSIC SEGMENT 
Music segment operating profits for 2004 were $11.1 million

compared to $9.5 million a year ago. These results are attrib-

utable to increased sales and the competitive positioning of

the segment’s brand name products. Music segment oper-

ating profits for 2003 and 2002 reflected continued

consumer spending in the music retail market and the 

positive effects of the acquisition of Latin Percussion in 

late 2002.

N E T  E A R N I N G S  A N D  C E RTA I N  E X P E N S E  I T E M S  

For the 2004 year, the corporation reported a net loss of $11.8

million, or $0.52 net loss per share diluted, compared to net

earnings of $19.4 million, or $0.86 earnings per share diluted,

in 2003.The 2004 loss is primarily attributable to events in

the Aerospace segment, including $41.6 million of adjust-

ments for the year, $10.8 million of which were taken in the

fourth quarter to address issues with certain of the segment’s

programs and contracts. All of these actions have been dis-

cussed earlier in this report. Results for 2003 included an

after-tax gain of $10.6 million or $0.48 per share from the

sale of its Electromagnetics Development Center (“EDC”) in

January 2003. For 2002, the corporation reported a net loss 

of $33.6 million, or $1.50 net loss per share diluted, including

charges or adjustments previously described.

The corporation continued to pay quarterly dividends at

the rate of $0.11 per share during 2004.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased

$33.0 million for the year 2004 compared to 2003. The

Aerospace segment was responsible for approximately $8.1

million (or 24.5 percent of the total increase). During 2004,

the corporation recorded various adjustments in order to

address issues with certain of the segment’s programs and

contracts of which a portion was charged to general and

administrative expenses, specifically approximately $2.1

million to reserve for accounts receivable from MDHI and

the University of Arizona. Additionally in conjunction with

the segment’s realignment, severance costs of $2.0 million

were incurred. Selling, general and administrative expenses

increased $8.6 million (or 26.1 percent of the total increase)

for the Industrial Distribution segment (excluding ISI) pri-

marily related to the segment’s additional sales volume for

2004, which correlates to an increase in certain general and

administrative expenses as well as commissions. With a full

year of activity for the ISI acquisition, selling, general and

administrative costs increased $4.0 million or 12.0 percent

over prior year. The Music segment’s increase of $2.5 million

(or 7.8 percent of the total increase) is also attributable to

increased sales volume for the 2004 year. Corporate expense

resulted in a $9.8 million (or 29.6 percent increase of the

total increase) for 2004 compared to 2003. The significant

increase in corporate selling, general and administrative

costs relates to an increase in pension expense of $4.7 mil-

lion primarily due to a decrease in the discount rate in 2004

compared to 2003. Additionally, the supplemental retirement

plan expense increased $2.7 million due largely to the

changes in the discount rate year over year and additional

expense associated with vesting credit for additional years
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of service of one senior executive based upon the terms of

his employment agreement. The corporation also recorded

$2.9 million related to the long-term incentive program ele-

ment of the corporation’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, and a

$0.7 million increase in audit related services for new

internal control reporting requirements, and $0.7 million of

insurance expense for senior executive life insurance offset

by a $1.6 million refund related to group insurance. The

increase in corporate expenses was also offset by a $1.2 mil-

lion reduction in consulting expense.

Selling, general and administrative expense for year 2003

was higher than for 2002, largely due to acquisitions and to

increase in corporate expenses attributable to several items,

including a reduction in group insurance liabilities for 2002

that did not occur in 2003, and growth in stock appreciation

rights, pension and general insurance expense.

Net interest expense increased 19.0 percent for the year

2004, principally due to increases in short term interest

rates. For each of the years ended December 31, 2003 and

2002, net interest expense increased, principally due to bor-

rowings to fund acquisitions.

For the 2004 year, there was a tax benefit calculated at

approximately 31 percent, representing the combined esti-

mated federal and state tax effect attributable to the loss for

the year. The consolidated effective income tax rate for the

year 2003 was 39 percent. For 2002, there was also a tax ben-

efit calculated at approximately 34 percent, representing the

combined estimated federal and state tax effect attributable

to the loss recorded in that year.

R E C E N T LY  I S S U E D  AC C O U N T I N G  P R O N O U N C E M E N T S

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No. 151 “Inventory Costs – an amendment of ARB

No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS 151”). SFAS 151 clarifies the

accounting for inventory when there are abnormal amounts

of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted

materials. Under existing generally accepted accounting

principles, items such as idle facility expense, excessive

spoilage, double freight, and re-handling costs may be “so

abnormal” as to require treatment as current period charges

rather than recorded as adjustments to the value of the

inventory. SFAS 151 requires that those items be recognized

as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet

the criterion of “so abnormal.” In addition, this statement

requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the

costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the

production facilities. The provisions of this statement are

effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years

beginning after June 15, 2005. However, application is 

permitted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years

beginning after the date this statement was issued. The 

corporation is currently evaluating the financial impact the

adoption of this standard will have on the corporation’s

financial position and results of operations. The effect of this

adoption will be applied prospectively in accordance with

the guidance and disclosures as required under Accounting

Principles Board Opinion No. 20 will be included when the

standard is adopted.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),

“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires

entities to recognize the cost of employee services received

in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the

grant-date fair value of those awards. That cost will be 

recognized over the period during which an employee is

required to provide service in exchange for the award – the

requisite service period (usually the vesting period). SFAS

123R is effective for financial statements as of the beginning

of the first interim or annual periods ending after June 15,

2005. The corporation will adopt this statement in accor-

dance with its terms and that adoption will have a negative

impact on consolidated results of operations and financial

position. The corporation anticipates that it will apply one of

the prospective accounting methods for the application of

SFAS 123R.

C R I T I C A L  AC C O U N T I N G  E S T I M AT E S  

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in con-

formity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
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United States of America requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. Significant accounting policies are disclosed

in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of Kaman

Corporation and Subsidiaries for the year ended December

31, 2004.The most significant areas currently involving 

management judgments and estimates are described below.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

L O N G - T E R M  C O N T R AC T S  —  R E V E N U E  R E C O G N I T I O N

Sales and estimated profits under long-term contracts are

principally recognized on the percentage-of-completion

method of accounting, generally using as a measurement

basis either (1) a ratio that costs incurred bear to estimated

total costs, after giving effect to estimates of cost to complete

based upon most recent information for each contract, or 

(2) units-of-delivery. Reviews of contracts are performed

routinely throughout their lives and revisions in profit esti-

mates are recorded in the accounting period in which the

revisions are made. Any anticipated contract losses are

charged to operations when first indicated.

The percentage-of-completion method requires estimates

of future revenues and costs over the life of a contract.

Revenues are estimated based upon the original contract

price, modifications by contract options, change orders and

in some cases projected customer requirements. Contract

costs may be incurred over a period of several years, and the

estimation of these costs requires management’s judgment.

Estimated costs are based primarily on anticipated purchase

contract terms, historical performance trends, business base

and other economic projections. The complexity of certain

programs related to technical risks, internal labor require-

ments and performance expectations could affect the

corporation’s ability to precisely estimate future 

contract costs.

Specifically, the corporation is required to make signifi-

cant estimates and assumptions related to its completion of

a long-term contract with the RAN. The remaining estimates

are generally associated with the continued progress to

complete the ITAS software and its integration into the air-

craft. While the corporation believes its accrued contract

loss is sufficient to cover estimated costs to complete the

program, final integration of the software is a complex task

and is still in process. The first fully operational aircraft is

expected to be delivered in mid-2005. Technical difficulties

could increase costs and/or delay customer payments.

Additional programs that require significant estimates are

the Boeing Harbour Pointe contract and the recently

awarded Sikorsky BLACK HAWK program.

AC C O U N T S  R E C E I VA B L E , N E T

Trade accounts receivable consist of amounts billed and

currently due from customers. Billed amounts for U.S.

Government, commercial, and other government contracts

consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers.

Costs and accrued profit – not billed for U.S. Government,

commercial, and other government contracts primarily

relate to costs incurred on contracts which will become 

billable upon future deliveries, achievement of specific 

contract milestones or completion of engineering and

service type contracts.

The corporation had $87.2 million and $78.2 million of

trade receivables at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-

tively. The allowance for doubtful accounts for receivables

was $5.5 million and $3.3 million at December 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively. Accounts receivable written off, net of

recoveries, in years 2004 and 2003 were $1.6 million and $1.2

million, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts

reflects management’s best estimate of probable losses

inherent in the accounts receivable balance. Management

determines the allowance for doubtful accounts based on

known past due amounts and historical write-off experi-

ence, as well as trends and factors surrounding the credit

risk of specific customers. In an effort to identify adverse

trends, the corporation performs ongoing reviews of account

balances and aging of receivables. Amounts are considered

past due when payment has not been received within the

time frame of the credit terms extended. Write-offs are

charged directly against the allowance for doubtful accounts
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and occur only after all collection efforts have been

exhausted. Actual write-offs and adjustments could differ

from the allowance estimates due to unanticipated changes

in the business environment as well as factors and risks 

surrounding specific customers.

In addition to trade receivables, the corporation had $108.5

million and $118.4 million of amounts due from government

and commercial customers at December 31, 2004 and 2003,

respectively.The corporation evaluates, on an ongoing basis,

the recoverable costs associated with its government and

commercial contracts. Specifically, the corporation had an

investment of billed receivables and costs not billed of $20.8

million as of December 31, 2003 with its customer, MDHI.

Due to unresolved payment issues and the inability of MDHI

to successfully execute a strategy to improve its financial and

operational circumstances, the corporation recorded a non-

cash sales and pre-tax earnings charge of $20.1 million

(includes an $18.2 million negative sales adjustment for costs

not billed and a $1.9 million addition to the corporation’s bad

debt reserve for billed receivables) in the third quarter 2004

that eliminates the corporation’s investment in contracts with

MDHI in the Aerospace segment.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter 2004, the corpora-

tion recorded a sales and pre-tax earnings adjustment of

$3.5 million (includes a $3.2 million negative sales adjust-

ment for costs not billed and a $0.3 million addition to the

corporation’s bad debt reserve for billed receivables) that

was previously recognized for a contract with the University

of Arizona due to the curtailment of the contract as a result

of changes in the scope of the corporation’s participation 

in the contract. This matter is further discussed in the 

corporation’s Commitments and Contingencies note in 

the financial statements.

As of December 31, 2004, the corporation had $61.0 million

of costs not billed which will be due and payable as the 

segment satisfactorily completes the Australian SH-2G(A)

program.When these costs are ultimately billed to the RAN,

they will be offset by $12.0 million of advances on contracts

previously paid to the corporation by the RAN.The corpora-

tion anticipates that approximately $25.4 million will be

required to fund completion of the program, which amount is

reported as an accrued contract loss as of December 31, 2004.

I N V E N T O R I E S

Inventory of merchandise for resale is stated at cost (using

the average costing method) or market, whichever is lower.

Contracts and work in process, and finished goods are valued

at production cost represented by material, labor and over-

head, including general and administrative expenses where

applicable. Contracts and work in process, and finished

goods are not recorded in excess of net realizable values 

The corporation had $196.7 million and $179.0 million of

inventory net of progress payments for certain U.S. govern-

ment contracts in process of $11.3 million and $12.9 million

as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Inventory

valuation at the Industrial Distribution and Music segments

generally requires less subjective management judgment

than valuation of certain Aerospace segment inventory,

including the K-MAX inventory. Based upon a market 

evaluation in 2002, the corporation wrote down its K-MAX

inventory in the amount of $46.7 million in that year. The

corporation believes its K-MAX inventory consisting of

work in process and finished goods of $29.9 million and

$33.4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively is

stated at net realizable value, although lack of demand for

this product in the future could result in additional write-

downs of the inventory value. The process for evaluating the 

value of excess and obsolete inventory often requires the

corporation to make subjective judgments and estimates

concerning future sales levels, quantities and prices at

which such inventory will be sold in the normal course of

business. Accelerating the disposal process or changes in

estimates of future sales potential may necessitate future

write-downs of inventory value.

V E N D O R  I N C E N T I V E S  

The corporation’s Industrial Distribution segment enters

into agreements with certain vendors providing for inven-

tory purchase incentives that are generally earned upon

achieving specified volume-purchasing levels. To the extent
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that the corporation has inventory on hand that qualifies for

specific rebate programs, the recognition of the rebate is

generally deferred until the inventory is sold. The segment

recognizes these incentives as a reduction in cost of sales.

While management believes that vendors will continue to

offer incentives, there can be no assurance that the

Industrial Distribution segment will continue to receive

comparable amounts in the future nor can management

estimate whether the corporation will continue to utilize 

the vendor programs at the same level as for prior periods.

G O O DW I L L  A N D  O T H E R  I N TA N G I B L E  
A S S E T S  AC C O U N T I N G

Goodwill and certain other intangible assets deemed to have

indefinite lives are evaluated at least annually for impair-

ment, which is performed during the fourth quarter, after

the annual forecasting process. The corporation determines

fair value of its reporting units, as defined by Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), by

utilizing discounted cash flow models to evaluate goodwill

and other intangible asset impairment. Management’s esti-

mates of fair value are based upon factors such as projected

sales and cash flows and other elements requiring signifi-

cant judgments. The corporation utilizes the best available

information to prepare its estimates and performs impair-

ment evaluations; however, actual results could differ

significantly, resulting in the future impairment of recorded

goodwill and other intangible asset balances. The goodwill

and other intangible assets are also reviewed for possible

impairment whenever changes in conditions indicate that

carrying value may not be recoverable.

The corporation has made a number of acquisitions

during the last three years, which have involved goodwill

and other intangible assets. Assets and liabilities acquired 

in the acquisitions are recorded at their estimated fair

values at the acquisition date. As of December 31, 2004 and

2003, the corporation had $54.8 million and $52.5 million,

respectively of goodwill and other intangibles, representing

the costs of acquisitions in excess of fair values assigned to

the underlying net assets of the acquired companies. Based

upon the corporation’s analysis, management believes these

assets are not impaired as of December 31, 2004.

D E P R E C I AT I O N  A N D  A M O RT I Z AT I O N

The corporation depreciates property, plant and equipment

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life

of the asset. These periods range as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 – 20 years

Buildings and additions 15 – 30 years

Machinery and equipment 3 – 10 years

Patents and other amortizable intangible assets are amor-

tized over their estimated useful lives. The straight-line

method of amortization is used. These periods generally

range from 10 – 20 years. In the event that facts and circum-

stances indicate that the carrying value of long-lived assets

or other assets may be impaired, a specific evaluation of 

the assets or groups of assets is performed to determine

whether any impairment exists.

P E N S I O N  P L A N  AC T UA R I A L  A S S U M P T I O N S

The corporation’s pension benefit obligations and related

costs are calculated using actuarial concepts within the

framework of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS 87”).

Two critical assumptions, the discount rate and the expected

return on plan assets, are important elements of expense

and/or liability measurement. These critical assumptions are

evaluated periodically and adjusted annually. Other assump-

tions involve demographic factors such as retirement,

mortality, turnover and rate of compensation increases.

The discount rate enables management to state expected

future cash flow as a present value on the measurement

date. The guideline for setting this rate is a high-quality

long-term corporate bond rate. A lower discount rate

increases the present value of benefit obligations and
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increases pension expense. The Kaman Corporation

Employees’ Pension Plan used a discount rate of 6.5 percent

in 2004 and 7.0 percent in 2003 for purposes of calculating

net periodic benefit cost. A one percentage point decrease in

the assumed discount rate would have increased annual

pension expense in 2004 by $4.0 million. A one percentage

point increase in the assumed discount rate would have

decreased annual pension expense in 2004 by $1.3 million.

To determine the expected return on plan assets, manage-

ment considers the current and expected asset allocation, as

well as historical and expected returns on each plan asset

class. A lower expected rate of return on pension plan assets

will increase pension expense. The expected return on plan

assets was 8.0 percent and 8.5 percent at December 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively. A one percentage point

increase/decrease in the return on pension plan asset

assumption would have decreased/increased annual 

pension expense in 2004 by $3.6 million.

The corporation determined these assumptions based

upon consultation with outside actuaries. Any variance

between actual developments and the above assumptions

could have a significant impact on future recognized 

pension costs, assets and liabilities.

S T O C K - B A S E D  C O M P E N S AT I O N

The corporation currently accounts for stock option awards

under the recognition and measurement principles of APB

Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”

and related interpretations. No stock-based employee com-

pensation cost pertaining to employee stock options is

reflected in net income, as all options granted under the 

corporation’s plans have exercise prices equal to the market

value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Restricted share grants awarded to employees are included

in earnings as an expense over the vesting period of the

award. Stock appreciation rights awarded to employees are

included in earnings based upon the fluctuation in the

market price of the shares over the term of the award. As a

result of the issuance of SFAS 123R in November 2004, the

corporation will adopt one of the prospective accounting

methods as described by the standard during 2005.

I N C O M E  TA X E S

As of December 31, 2004 the corporation had recognized 

$39.9 million of net deferred tax assets, net of valuation

allowances. The realization of these benefits is dependent in

part on future taxable income. For those jurisdictions, pri-

marily foreign locations, where the expiration date of tax

loss carry forwards or the projected operating results indi-

cate that realization is not likely, a valuation allowance is

provided. Management believes that sufficient income will

be earned in the future to realize deferred income tax

assets, net of valuation allowances recorded. The recognized

net deferred tax asset is based on the corporation’s esti-

mates of future taxable income. The realization of these

deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax laws,

statutory tax rates and future taxable income levels.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LYS I S  O F  C A S H  F L OW S  —  
C A L E N DA R  Y E A R  2 0 0 4

Management assesses the corporation’s liquidity in terms of

its ability to generate cash to fund operating, investing and

financing activities. Cash flow generation is another key

performance indicator reviewed by management in evalu-

ating business segment performance. Significant factors

affecting the management of liquidity include earnings, cash

flows generated from or used by operating activities, capital

expenditures, investments in the business segments and

their programs, acquisitions, dividends, adequacy of avail-

able bank lines of credit, and factors which might otherwise

affect the corporation’s business and operations generally,

as described below under the heading “Forward-Looking

Statements”. During 2004, the corporation relied to a signifi-

cant extent upon borrowings under its revolving credit

agreement in order to satisfy working capital requirements

because cash flows from operations were insufficient for

this purpose. While it is anticipated that cash flows from

operations will improve in 2005, and debt levels should be

reduced upon successful completion of the Australia SH-2G

program, management also expects that bank borrowings

will continue to provide an important source of support for

the corporation’s activities. The corporation’s current
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revolving credit agreement will expire in November 2005

and management expects that it will be replaced with an

equally appropriate facility in order to support the corpora-

tion’s future cash requirements.

The corporation as a whole operated at a loss for the year

2004 due to the performance of the Aerospace company

which has been adversely affected by operational issues dis-

cussed above. The management realignment undertaken in

the Aerospace segment during 2004 is expected to result in

actions to address these issues with the goal of improving

operating profits and cash flow generation.

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2004 was

$25.5 million. Activities that provided cash included an

increase in accounts payable of $15.1 million consisting 

of $3.1 million at Dayron, $3.6 million in the Industrial

Distribution segment and $6.5 million in the Music segment.

The increase in accounts payable is principally due to

increased purchase activity during the fourth quarter in

order to accommodate the growing sales volume as

reported. There was an increase in accrued contract loss of

$14.2 million primarily due to adjustments recorded during

2004 including Harbour Pointe and the Australian SH-2G(A)

program of $6.1 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

Further increases in accrued contract loss of approximately

$3.6 million were primarily attributable to the Boeing 767

program and the Boeing offload program. The increases

were offset primarily by uses of the accrued contract loss for

the Australian SH-2G(A) program of approximately $0.9

million. Additionally, accrued expenses and payables

increased $21.2 million. This is comprised of an increase 

in accrued pension, senior executive life insurance and

workers compensation of $4.8 million, $1.6 million and $1.1

million, respectively, a $2.9 million increase for the long-

term incentive program and an increase in accrued audit

fees of $0.5 million. There was also an increase in certain

reserves at Dayron of $3.5 million for product warranty-

related issues as previously discussed and an increase 

of $2.8 million in deposits received in advance for the

Aerospace segment. In addition, there was an increase 

in incentive compensation programs for the Industrial

Distribution segment of $2.3 million related to increased

sales volume.

Uses of cash included accounts receivable of $20.2 

million, due to an increase in accounts receivable of $7.1

million at the Aerospace subsidiary, of which $4.1 million 

is related to the Australian SH-2G(A) program. Additionally,

Dayron had an increase in accounts receivable of approxi-

mately $2.6 million principally due to slower collections

from certain customers. Accounts receivable in the

Industrial Distribution segment also increased $7.4 million

as a result of higher sales volume in the fourth quarter 2004

compared to 2003. Another use of cash during 2004 related

to an increase in inventory of $20.0 million. This was prima-

rily due to an increase of $5.3 million at Dayron, $2.4 million

increase at Kamatics and a $9.2 million increase in the

Music segment. Dayron inventory has increased primarily

due to delays in deliveries under certain programs. The

increase in Kamatics inventory is overall due to continued

growth in sales volume. Additionally, inventory for Music

increased as a result of the segment expanding its product

line during 2004 along with earlier than anticipated receipt

of inventory from certain foreign locations.

Investing activities used cash in the amount of $10.2 mil-

lion for 2004. The use of cash in investing activity is due to

$7.5 million in capital expenditures for property, plant and

equipment primarily for the Industrial Distribution segment

and the Aerospace segment. Additionally, the corporation

used $1.0 million in cash for the payment of the 2003 

earn-out related to the 2002 acquisition of Dayron. The 

corporation also has accrued for a $1.6 million earn-out 

as of the end of 2004, which will be paid during 2005.

Financing activities used cash in the amount of $10.0 mil-

lion for 2004. The use of cash included $10.0 million for the

payment of dividends to shareholders, and $2.1 million was

made in payments on long-term debt. These uses were

offset by proceeds from the exercise of employee stock

options of $1.2 million and proceeds from notes payable 

of $1.2 million.
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O F F - B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A R R A N G E M E N T S  

The following table summarizes the corporation’s off-balance sheet arrangements, which consist principally of letters of

credit and obligations to pay earn outs with respect to certain acquisitions:

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD (IN MILLIONS)

WITHIN 1–3 3–5 MORE THAN
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS TOTAL 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS

Outstanding letters of credit under the 
Revolving Credit Agreement $ 29.2 $ 29.2 $ — $ — $ —

Other outstanding letters of credit 8.5 8.5 — — —
Acquisition earn outs 1 22.4 — — — —

Total $ 60.1 $ 37.7 $ — $ — $ —

1: The obligation to pay earn out amounts depends upon the attainment of specific milestones for Dayron, an operation acquired in 2002. Since it
is not feasible to estimate exactly when such payments may become due, they are stated in the aggregate only. However, $1.6 million was accrued
for such earn out payments in 2004.

C O N T R AC T UA L  O B L I GAT I O N S

The following table summarizes certain of the corporation’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD (IN MILLIONS)

WITHIN 1–3 3–5 MORE THAN
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS TOTAL 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS

Long-term debt $ 36.2 $ 17.6 $ 3.6 $ 3.4 $11.6
Interest payments on debt 1 7.5 2.8 1.9 1.5 1.3
Operating leases 42.0 14.4 17.3 5.1 5.2
Purchase obligations 2 115.7 62.3 15.8 14.8 22.8
Other long-term liabilities 3 36.2 4.0 7.4 3.4 21.4
Planned funding of pension benefit obligations 4 4.9 4.9 — — —

Total $242.5 $106.0 $46.0 $28.2 $62.3

1: The following assumptions have been used to derive the disclosed amounts: Interest payments on debt within one year are based upon the 
long-term debt that existed at December 31, 2004. After one year interest payments are based upon the balance outstanding each year of 
the convertible subordinated debentures until their expiration in 2012.

2: This category includes purchase commitments with suppliers for materials and supplies as part of the ordinary course of business,
consulting arrangements and support services. Only obligations in the amount of at least fifty thousand dollars are included.

3: This category consists primarily of obligations under the corporation’s supplemental employees’ retirement plan and deferred compensation
plan and a supplemental disability income arrangement for one former company officer.

4: The following assumptions have been used to derive the disclosed amounts: The $4.9 million represents the planned funding for the
corporation’s qualified defined benefit pension plan. This amount is projected using an assumed investment return of 7.58%. Projected funding
beyond one year has not been included as there are several significant factors, such as the future market value of plan assets and projected
investment return rates, which could cause actual funding requirements to differ materially from projected funding.
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D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LYS I S  O F  C A S H  F L OW S  —  
C A L E N DA R  Y E A R S  2 0 0 3  A N D  2 0 0 2  

Operating activities provided cash in the amount of $26.6

million for 2003. These results reflect reductions in accounts

receivable in the Aerospace segment and in inventories in

both the Industrial Distribution and Music segments, and

increases in accounts payable in the Industrial Distribution

segment, offset by increases in inventories in the Aerospace

segment, largely related to the K-MAX program. The 

K-MAX inventory increase relates primarily to production

of rotor blades in anticipation of their use for replacement

purposes and investment in anticipated overhauls, neither

of which circumstances occurred to the extent expected

during 2003.

The largest element of cash flows provided from investing

activities for 2003 consisted of the proceeds from the sale of

the EDC operation. Approximately $8.0 million was used for

acquisitions during the year. Cash used in financing activi-

ties for 2003 consisted of reductions in long-term debt and

payments of dividends to shareholders.

For calendar year 2002, operating activities used a net of

$11.2 million of cash. The Industrial Distribution segment

was the largest user of working capital during 2002, mostly

due to growth in receivables and inventories and reductions

in accounts payables. Cash flow for the year was generally

not affected by the $86.0 million second quarter Aerospace

charges previously described because $52.7 million of the

charges were non-cash in nature, $26.8 million was expected

to be paid in future years and $6.5 million consisted of a

write-down of receivables.

During 2002, cash was used by investing activities princi-

pally due to the acquisitions of Delamac in the Industrial

Distribution segment, Dayron and RWG in the Aerospace

segment, and Latin Percussion in the Music segment and by

the purchase of items such as machinery and computer

equipment; cash in the amount of approximately $51.2 mil-

lion was used for the acquisitions. This was offset to some

degree by the sale of the microwave products line. Cash pro-

vided by financing activities was primarily attributable to

bank borrowings to fund the acquisitions. This was partially

offset by the payment of dividends to shareholders.

O T H E R  S O U R C E S / U S E S  O F  C A P I TA L  

In 2003 and 2002, the corporation sold two non-core por-

tions of the Aerospace segment in order to free capital for

other uses. Specifically, in January 2003, the corporation sold

EDC, its electric motor and drive business for $27.5 million.

In the second quarter of 2002, the corporation sold its small

microwave products line, which was associated with the

former Kaman Sciences Corp. subsidiary which was sold 

in 1997.

At December 31, 2004, the corporation had $19.9 million

of its 6% convertible subordinated debentures outstanding.

The debentures are convertible into shares of Class A

common stock at any time on or before March 15, 2012 

at a conversion price of $23.36 per share, generally at the

option of the holder. Pursuant to a sinking fund requirement

that began March 15, 1997, the corporation redeems approx-

imately $1.7 million of the outstanding principal of the

debentures each year.

In November 2000, the corporation’s board of directors

approved a replenishment of the corporation’s stock repur-

chase program, providing for repurchase of an aggregate of

1.4 million Class A common shares for use in administration

of the corporation’s stock plans and for general corporate

purposes. As of December 31, 2004, a total of 269,607 shares

(unchanged from September 30, 2004) had been repur-

chased since inception of this replenishment program. For 

a discussion of share repurchase activity during the three

months ended December 31, 2004, please refer to Part II,

Item 5(c) of the corporation’s annual report on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31, 2004.

F I N A N C I N G  A R R A N G E M E N T S

Total average bank borrowings for the year 2004 were $51.6

million compared to $43.0 million for 2003 and $23.8 million

for 2002.

The corporation maintains a revolving credit agreement,

as amended (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) with several

banks that provides a $150 million five-year commitment

scheduled to expire in November 2005. Interest is charged 

at current market rates. Effective September 30, 2004, the

Revolving Credit Agreement was amended to permit the
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corporation to exclude the MDHI non-cash sales and pre-

tax earnings charge from the calculations that are made 

to determine compliance with the agreement’s financial

covenants. As a result of the amendment, the corporation

remains in compliance with those financial covenants at

December 31, 2004.

The amendment also incorporates a new financial

covenant which provides that if the corporation’s EBITDA 

to net interest expense ratio is less than 6 to 1, the ratio of 

i) accounts receivable and inventory for certain Kaman 

subsidiaries to ii) the corporation’s consolidated total

indebtedness cannot be less than 1.6 to 1. The already

existing financial covenants include a requirement that the

corporation have i) EBITDA, at least equal to 300 percent of

net interest expense, on the basis of a rolling four quarters

and ii) a ratio of consolidated total indebtedness to total cap-

italization of not more than 55 percent. Please refer to the

Revolving Credit Agreement and the amendment for specific

definitions of the terms used in this paragraph. The

Revolving Credit Agreement, as amended, has been filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibit 4

to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2000, Document No.

0000054381-00-500006, as amended by Document No.

0000054381-02-000022 filed on August 14, 2002, and

amended by Document No. 0000054381-03-000124 filed 

on November 5, 2003, as amended by Document No.

0000054381-04-000070 (the amendment described above)

filed on October 21, 2004.

Facility fees under the Revolving Credit Agreement are

charged on the basis of the corporation’s credit rating from

Standard & Poor’s, which is a BBB investment grade rating.

Management believes that this is a favorable rating for a

corporation of its size and the rating was reaffirmed by

Standard & Poor’s in April 2004. The rating continues to be

accompanied by a “negative outlook” which was assigned to

the corporation and several other aerospace companies in

the wake of the events of September 11, 2001 and the subse-

quent weakness in aerospace markets. Under the terms 

of the current Revolving Credit Agreement, if this rating

should decrease, the effect would be to increase facility 

fees as well as the interest rates charged.

At December 31, 2004, borrowings under the Revolving

Credit Agreement are included in the current portion of long

term debt. As of December 31, 2004, there was $115.8 million

available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit

Agreement.

The corporation also maintains a 9.5 million Euro 

term loan and revolving credit facility (the “Euro Credit

Agreement”) with Wachovia Bank National Association,

one of its Revolving Credit Agreement lenders. In general,

the Euro Credit Agreement contains the same financial

covenants as the Revolving Credit Agreement described

previously and the term of the Euro Credit Agreement

expires at the same time as the Revolving Credit Agreement.

It is currently anticipated that the Euro Credit Agreement

will be replaced with an equally appropriate facility.

The Euro Credit Agreement was amended effective

September 30, 2004 to incorporate the terms of the amend-

ment to the Revolving Credit Agreement described above.

In 2003, the Euro Credit Agreement was amended to con-

form with the 2003 amendment to the Revolving Credit

Agreement and the corporation entered into an arrange-

ment with Wachovia that permits the corporation to lock 

in a fixed rate of interest for the RWG financing.

Letters of credit are generally considered borrowings for

purposes of the Revolving Credit Agreement. A total of $29.2

million in letters of credit were outstanding at December 31,

2004, a significant portion of which is related to the Australia

SH-2G(A) program. The letter of credit for the production

portion of the Australia program has a balance of $20 mil-

lion, the majority of which is expected to remain in place

until this portion of the program is completed.

Prior to November 2003, the corporation also maintained

a $75 million “364-day” annually renewable facility as part of

the Revolving Credit Agreement. In view of the longer term

attractiveness of fixed rates at the time the determination

was made and the fact that the “364-day” facility had never

been used, the corporation permitted it to expire in

November 2003. In the third quarter of 2003, the Revolving

Credit Agreement was amended to give lenders under a

potential new fixed rate financing of up to $75 million the

same covenant and guarantee protections that the Revolving
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M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S  
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K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

Credit Agreement lenders currently possess. As the 

corporation elected not to pursue fixed rate financing,

the provisions of the amendment were allowed to expire 

on June 30, 2004.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report may contain forward-looking information

relating to the corporation’s business and prospects,

including aerostructures and helicopter subcontract pro-

grams and components, advanced technology products, the

SH-2G and K-MAX helicopter programs, the industrial dis-

tribution and music businesses, operating cash flow, and

other matters that involve a number of uncertainties that

may cause actual results to differ materially from expecta-

tions. Those uncertainties include, but are not limited to:

1) the successful conclusion of competitions for government

programs and thereafter contract negotiations with govern-

ment authorities, both foreign and domestic; 2) political

conditions in countries where the corporation does, or

intends to do, business; 3) standard government contract

provisions permitting renegotiation of terms and termina-

tion for the convenience of the government; 4) economic and

competitive conditions in markets served by the corporation,

particularly defense, commercial aviation, industrial produc-

tion and consumer market for music products, as well as

global economic conditions; 5) satisfactory completion of the

Australian SH-2G(A)program, including successful comple-

tion and integration of the full ITAS software; 6) receipt and

successful execution of production orders for the JPF U.S.

government contract (including the exercise of all contract

options as such exercise has been assumed in connection

with goodwill impairment evaluations) and receipt of orders

from allied militaries; 7) satisfactory resolution of the

EODC/University of Arizona litigation; 8) achievement of

enhanced business base in the Aerospace segment in order

to better absorb overhead and general and administrative

expenses; 9) satisfactory results of negotiations with

NAVAIR concerning the corporation’s leased facility in

Bloomfield, Conn.; 10) profitable integration of acquired

businesses into the corporation’s operations; 11) changes in

supplier sales or vendor incentive policies; 12) the effect of

price increases or decreases; 13) pension plan assumptions

and future contributions; 14) continued availability of raw

materials in adequate supplies; 15) satisfactory resolution of

the supplier switch and incorrect part issues attributable to

Dayron suppliers and others; 16) cost growth in connection

with potential environmental remediation activities related

to the Bloomfield and Moosup facilities; 17) successful

replacement of the corporation’s revolving credit facility

upon its expiration; and 18) currency exchange rates, taxes,

changes in laws and regulations, interest rates, inflation

rates, general business conditions and other factors. Any

forward-looking information provided in this report should

be considered with these factors in mind. The corporation

assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking 

statements contained in this report.
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S E L E C T E D  Q U A R T E R LY  F I N A N C I A L  D ATA
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S )

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH TOTAL
QUARTER QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 YEAR 4

net sales
2004 (as reported) $245,678 $247,171 $246,017 $ —** $ —**

2004 (as adjusted) 245,151 247,509 246,306 256,226 995,192
2003 216,010 216,311 223,324 238,854 894,499

gross profit
2004 (as reported) $ 62,266 $ 55,079 $ 50,073 $ —** $ —**

2004 (as adjusted) 61,739 55,417 50,362 57,389 224,907
2003 57,887 57,824 54,360 52,837 222,908

net earnings (loss)
2004 (as reported) $ 1,292 $ (1,836) $ (11,889) $ —** $ —**

2004 (as adjusted) 1,173 (1,702) (11,786) 493 (11,822)
2003 13,966 3,284 1,188 967 19,405

per share – basic
2004 (as reported) $ .06 $ (.08) $ (.52) $ —** $ —**

2004 (as adjusted) .05 (.07) (.52) .02 (.52)
2003 .62 .15 .05 .04 .86

per share – diluted
2004 (as reported) $ .06 $ (.08) $ (.52) $ —** $ —**

2004 (as adjusted) .05 (.07) (.52) .02 (.52)
2003 .60 .15 .05 .04 .86

The corporation has restated its statement of operations beginning with the first quarter 2004 to record cumulative catch-up adjustments,
and subsequent period adjustments thereafter, to modify the corporation’s historical accounting for leases and timing of revenue recognition relative
to the University of Arizona contract in the Aerospace segment. The restatement is further described in the “Restatement of Quarterly Earnings”
Footnote in the Financial Statements.

** Fourth Quarter 2004 and Total Year 2004 are presented in the “as adjusted” line because “as reported” amounts were not previously reported.

1: Second quarter 2004 includes a non-cash adjustment for the Boeing Harbour Pointe contract in the amount of $7,086.

2: Third quarter 2004 includes a non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings charge of $20,083 related to the MD Helicopters, Inc. program.

3: Fourth quarter 2004 results include a $3,471 non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings adjustment for the curtailment of the 
University of Arizona contract.

4: 2004 selected quarterly financial data contains a full year of net sales and gross profit for Industrial Supplies, Inc. which was acquired 
in fourth quarter 2003.

The calculated per share-diluted amounts for each quarter ended 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2004 are anti-dilutive, therefore,
amount shown are equal to the basic per share calculation.

The quarterly per share-diluted amounts for 2003 do not equal the “Total Year” figure due to the calculation being anti-dilutive 
in the third and fourth quarters.



M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  R E P O R T  O N  I N T E R N A L  C O N T R O L  
O V E R  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

The management of Kaman Corporation and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal

control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a–15(f). Internal control over

financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance

of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the corporation’s assets;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that the corporation’s receipts

and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the corporation’s management and directors; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of

the corporation’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting and procedures may not prevent or detect 

misstatements. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no 

evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-

quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision of and with the participation of management, including the undersigned, the corporation has

assessed its internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria for effective internal control

over financial reporting described in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, the corporation concluded that the corporation 

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the specified criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting has been audited by KPMG LLP,

an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

March 15, 2005

Paul R. Kuhn Robert M. Garneau
Chairman, President and Executive Vice President
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

45.



46.

R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

T H E  B OA R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S  
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kaman Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,

2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each

of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility

of the corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-

cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sig-

nificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Kaman Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),

the effectiveness of Kaman Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based 

on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 

of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion of manage-

ment’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

Hartford, Connecticut

March 15, 2005
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

T H E  B OA R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S  
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control 

Over Financial Reporting, that Kaman Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Kaman Corporation’s management is responsible for main-

taining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effective-

ness of the corporation’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and oper-

ating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-

ally accepted accounting principles. A corporation’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-

tions and dispositions of the assets of the corporation; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that

receipts and expenditures of the corporation are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the corporation; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition, use, or disposition of the corporation’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Kaman Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Kaman Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Kaman Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,

and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in

the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those consolidated financial statements.

Hartford, Connecticut

March 15, 2005
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  S H A R E  A N D  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S )

December 31 2004 2003

assets
current  assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,369 $ 7,130
Accounts receivable, net 190,141 193,243
Inventories 196,718 178,952
Income taxes receivable — 1,043
Deferred income taxes 35,837 26,026
Other current assets 15,270 12,457

Total current assets 450,335 418,851

property, plant and equipment, net 48,958 51,049
goodwill 40,933 38,638
other intangible assets, net 14,605 14,709
deferred income taxes 4,086 2,480
other assets 3,414 2,584

total assets $ 562,331 $ 528,311

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
c u r r e n t  l i a b i l i t i e s

Notes payable $ 7,255 $ 6,013
Current portion of long-term debt 17,628 1,660
Accounts payable – trade 74,809 59,600
Accrued salaries and wages 14,668 8,698
Accrued vacations 5,596 5,885
Accrued contract losses 37,852 23,611
Accrued restructuring costs 3,762 6,109
Advances on contracts 16,721 19,693
Other accruals and payables 45,002 29,286
Income taxes payable 2,812 —

Total current liabilities 226,105 160,555

long-term debt, excluding current portion 18,522 36,624
other long-term liabilities 33,534 27,949

shareholders ’ equ ity
Capital stock, $1 par value per share:

Preferred stock, authorized 700,000 shares:
Series 2 preferred stock, 61⁄2% cumulative convertible,
authorized 500,000 shares, none outstanding — —

Common stock:
Class A, authorized 48,500,000 shares, nonvoting; $.10 per common share 
dividend preference; issued 23,066,260 shares in 2004 and 2003 23,066 23,066

Class B, authorized 1,500,000 shares, voting; issued 667,814 shares in 2004 and 2003 668 668
Additional paid-in capital 76,468 76,744
Retained earnings 197,586 219,401
Unamortized restricted stock awards (893) (1,727)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (684) (1,311)

296,211 316,841
Less 971,653 shares and 1,103,636 shares of Class A common stock 
in 2004 and 2003, respectively, held in treasury, at cost (12,041) (13,658)

Total shareholders’ equity 284,170 303,183

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 562,331 $ 528,311

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S )

Year ended December 31 20041,4 20032 20023

net sales $ 995,192 $ 894,499 $ 880,776

costs and expenses
Cost of sales 5 770,285 671,591 723,176
Selling, general and administrative expense 239,368 206,416 199,520
Net gain on sale of product lines and other assets (199) (18,163) (2,299)
Restructuring costs 6 — — 8,290
Other operating income (1,731) (1,448) (1,302)
Interest expense, net 3,580 3,008 2,486
Other expense, net 1,053 1,265 1,831

1,012,356 862,669 931,702

earnings (loss) before income taxes (17,164) 31,830 (50,926)

income tax benefit (expense) 5,342 (12,425) 17,325

net earnings (loss) $ (11,822) $ 19,405 $ (33,601)

per share
Net earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ (.52) $ .86 $ (1.50)
Diluted 7 (.52) .86 (1.50)

Dividends declared .44 .44 .44 

1: The 2004 results include a full year of activity of the Industrial Supplies, Inc. acquisition in fourth quarter 2003.

2: The 2003 results include a full year of activity from the acquisitions of Latin Percussion, Inc., RWG, Dayron and Delamac de Mexico which were
acquired during 2002.

3: The 2002 results include a full year of activity from the acquisitions of Plastic Fabricating Company, Inc. and A-C Supply, Inc. during 2001.

4: The 2004 results net of non-cash adjustments, of approximately $41,600 for certain programs with MD Helicopters, Inc., Royal Australian Navy,
Boeing Harbour Pointe and the University of Arizona, are further described in the Accrued Contract Loss and Accounts Receivable, Net Note in
the Financial Statements.

5: Cost of sales for 2002 includes the write-off of K-MAX and Moosup facility assets of $50,000 and $2,679, respectively and $18,495 of accrued
contract loss for the Australia SH-2G(A) program, all of which are associated with the Aerospace segment.

6: Restructuring costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 relate to the closure of the Moosup, Connecticut facility in 2003 and are associated
with the charge taken in the Aerospace segment.

7: The calculated diluted per share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2002 are anti-dilutive, therefore, amounts shown are equal
to the basic per share calculation.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  S H A R E  A M O U N T S )

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002

series 2 preferred stock $ — $ — $ —

class a common stock 23,066 23,066 23,066

class b common stock 668 668 668

additional paid-in capital
Balance – beginning of year 76,744 77,267 77,389
Employee stock plans (298) (398) (304)
Restricted stock awards 22 (125) 182

Balance – end of year 76,468 76,744 77,267

retained earnings
Balance – beginning of year 219,401 209,932 253,403
Net earnings (loss)1 (11,822) 19,405 (33,601)
Dividends declared (9,993) (9,936) (9,870)

Balance – end of year 197,586 219,401 209,932

unamortized restricted stock awards
Balance – beginning of year (1,727) (2,094) (2,206)
Stock awards issued (133) (529) (832)
Amortization of stock awards 967 896 944

Balance – end of year (893) (1,727) (2,094)

accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance – beginning of year (1,311) (1,099) (919)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1 627 (212) (180)

Balance – end of year (684) (1,311) (1,099)

treasury stock
Balance – beginning of year (13,658) (15,793) (17,820)
Shares acquired in 2004 – 757; 2003 – 20,000; 2002 – 37,300 (9) (205) (412)
Shares reissued under various stock plans 
in 2004 – 132,740; 2003 – 190,455; 2002 – 218,423 1,626 2,340 2,439

Balance – end of year (12,041) (13,658) (15,793)

total shareholders’ equity $284,170 $303,183 $291,947 

1: Comprehensive income (loss) is $(11,195), $19,193, and $(33,781) for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S )

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002

cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings (loss) $(11,822) $19,405 $ (33,601)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) 
to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 8,969 10,019 11,620
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 2,180 487 (1,086)
Net gain on sale of product lines and other assets (199) (18,163) (2,299)
Restructuring costs — — 8,290
Non-cash write-down of assets 962 — 52,679
Non-cash sales adjustment for costs – not billed 21,332 — —
Deferred income taxes (11,421) 5,994 (16,715)
Other, net 7,418 2,376 3,403
Changes in current assets and liabilities,
excluding effects of acquisitions/divestitures:

Accounts receivable (20,179) 2,744 (3,539)
Inventories (18,175) (9,806) (12,751)
Income taxes receivable 1,043 4,149 (4,888)
Other current assets (2,695) 2,267 (2,691)
Accounts payable – trade 15,149 10,106 (8,813)
Accrued contract losses 14,241 (3,063) 26,674
Accrued restructuring costs (2,347) (1,485) (696)
Advances on contracts (2,972) (1,846) (9,286)
Accrued expenses and payables 21,179 3,459 (17,470)
Income taxes payable 2,807 — —

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 25,470 26,643 (11,169)

cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of product lines and other assets 376 28,339 8,034
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (7,539) (9,069) (7,601)
Acquisition of businesses, less cash acquired (2,435) (7,748) (51,227)
Other, net (621) (1,599) 1,854

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (10,219) 9,923 (48,940)

cash flows from financing activities
Changes in notes payable 1,197 (2,664) 5,985
Changes in debt (2,134) (23,508) 36,906
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock plans 1,218 1,287 1,485
Purchases of treasury stock (9) (205) (412)
Dividends paid (9,979) (9,917) (9,850)
Other (305) — 732

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (10,012) (35,007) 34,846

net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,239 1,559 (25,263)
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,130 5,571 30,834

cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 12,369 $ 7,130 $ 5,571

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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R E S TAT E M E N T  O F  Q UA RT E R LY  E A R N I N G S  ( U NAU D I T E D )

In conjunction with the year end financial reporting process,

the corporation has restated its statement of operations

beginning with the first quarter of 2004 to correct its

accounting by recording a cumulative catch-up pre-tax

adjustment of approximately $660 in rent expense and

related deferred rent liability pertaining to lease accounting

as well as a negative sales adjustment of $527 for the

University of Arizona contract in the Aerospace segment.

The adjustment of $660 modifies the corporation’s historical

accounting for rent holidays, escalating rent and tenant

allowances to amortize such items on a straight line basis

over the term of the lease arrangement, specifically when

the corporation takes possession of the leased space, in

accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

Standard No. 13 and FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-3. The

corporation historically had accounted for such escalating

rent and rent holidays as rental payments became due. In

addition, in accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin No.

88-1 “Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases” the adjust-

ment establishes a related deferred liability for tenant

allowances for a small number of leases. The corporation

has and will continue to present such allowances as a 

component of cash flow from operating activities on the

consolidated statement of cash flows. The adjustment has

been included in income from continuing operations. The

adjustment of $527 was made to reverse net sales recorded

in excess of costs incurred on the claim element of the

University of Arizona contract as further described in 

the Accounts Receivable, Net and Commitments and

Contingencies notes. The corporation further recorded 

net pre-tax adjustments of $978 as a reduction to selling,

general and administrative expenses. The net adjustments

relate to prior periods and consist of recognition of $813 of

adjustments related to group insurance, $430 to reverse a

product liability reserve established by the Industrial

Distribution segment and other offsetting adjustments pri-

marily related to establishing a reserve for sales allowances

in the Music segment of $265. Additional adjustments of

which the majority relates to the lease accounting and

University of Arizona contract were recorded during the

second and third quarters of 2004 as presented in the

Selected Quarterly Financial Data. The impact of the above

items was immaterial to prior year financial statements.

S U M M A RY  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T  AC C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

principles of consolidation – The accompanying consoli-

dated financial statements include the accounts of the

parent corporation and its subsidiaries. All intercompany

balances and transactions have been eliminated in consoli-

dation. Certain amounts in prior year financial statements

and notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to 

current year presentation.

use of estimates – The preparation of consolidated

financial statements in conformity with accounting princi-

ples generally accepted in the United States of America

requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

foreign currency translation – Generally the balance

sheets of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars

using current exchange rates, while statements of opera-

tions are translated at average rates. Adjustments resulting

from foreign currency translations are included as cumula-

tive translation adjustments in accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss).

concentration of credit risk – Financial instruments

that potentially subject the corporation to concentrations 

of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents

and trade accounts receivable. The Aerospace segment had 

one customer with an accounts receivable balance that

accounted for 34.5% and 31.5% as of December 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively. No individual customer accounted for

more than 10% of net sales. Foreign sales were approxi-

mately 13.6%, 15.0% and 13.9% of the corporation’s net sales

in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively and are concentrated

primarily in Australia, Canada, Europe, Mexico, and Asia.

cash and cash equivalents – Surplus funds are

invested in cash equivalents which consist of highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or less.

revenue recognition – Sales and estimated profits 

under long-term contracts are principally recognized on 

the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, gener-

ally using as a measurement basis either a ratio that costs

incurred bear to estimated total costs (after giving effect 

to estimates of costs to complete based upon most recent
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information for each contract) or units-of-delivery. Reviews

of contracts are made routinely throughout their lives 

and revisions in profit estimates are recorded in the

accounting period in which the revisions are made. Any

anticipated contract losses are charged to operations 

when first indicated.

Sales and related cost of sales for products and programs

not accounted for under the percentage-of-completion

method are recognized when products are shipped to 

customers and title has passed.

The corporation has classified its freight costs charged 

to customers in net sales and the correlating expense as a

cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002.

costs of sales and operating expenses – The cost of

sales line item includes costs of products and services sold

(i.e., purchased product, raw material, direct labor, engi-

neering labor, outbound freight charges and indirect and

overhead charges). Selling expenses primarily consist of

advertising, promotion, bid and proposal, employee payroll

and corresponding benefits and commissions paid to sales

and marketing personnel. General and administrative

expenses primarily consist of employee payroll including

executive, administrative and financial personnel and corre-

sponding benefits, incentive compensation, independent

research and development, consulting expenses, ware-

housing costs, depreciation and amortization.

Certain costs including purchasing costs, receiving costs

and inspection costs for certain reporting segments are not

included in the costs of sales line item. For the years ended

December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, these balances of $2,992,

$2,659 and $2,508, respectively, are included in general and

administrative costs.

inventories – Inventory of merchandise for resale is

stated at cost (using the average costing method) or market,

whichever is lower. Contracts and work in process and fin-

ished goods are valued at production cost represented by

raw material, labor and overhead, including general and

administrative expenses where applicable. Contracts and

work in process and finished goods are not recorded in

excess of net realizable values.

property, plant and equipment – Depreciation of

property, plant and equipment is computed primarily on 

a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the

assets. The estimated useful lives for buildings range from

15 to 30 years and leasehold improvements range from 

5 to 20 years, whereas machinery, office furniture and equip-

ment generally range from 3 to 10 years. At the time of

retirement or disposal, the acquisition cost of the asset and

related accumulated depreciation are eliminated and any

gain or loss is credited or charged against income.

In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the

carrying value of long-lived assets or other assets may be

impaired, a specific evaluation of the assets or groups of assets

is performed to determine whether any impairment exists.

Maintenance and repair items are charged against income

as incurred, whereas renewals and betterments are capital-

ized and depreciated.

goodwill and other intangible assets – Goodwill and

intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated for

impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter, after the

annual forecasting process. Intangible assets with finite lives

(presently consisting of patents) are amortized using the

straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit.

The goodwill and other intangible assets are reviewed for

possible impairment whenever changes in conditions indi-

cate carrying value may not be recoverable.

vendor incentives – The corporation’s Industrial

Distribution segment enters into agreements with certain

vendors providing for inventory purchase incentives that

are generally earned and recognized upon achieving 

specified volume-purchasing levels. To the extent that the

corporation has inventory on hand that qualify for specific

rebate programs, the recognition of the rebate is deferred

until the inventory is sold. The segment recognizes these

incentives as a reduction in cost of sales. As of December 

31, 2004 and 2003, total vendor incentive receivables are

$8,807 and $5,648, respectively.

research and development – Research and develop-

ment costs not specifically covered by contracts are charged

against income as incurred through selling, general and

administrative expense. Such costs amounted to $4,040,

$4,318 and $5,363 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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income taxes – Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable 

to temporary differences between the financial statement

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respec-

tive tax bases using enacted tax rates expected to apply in

the years in which temporary differences are expected to be

recovered or settled.

stock-based compensation – As permitted by

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”),

the corporation has elected to continue following the 

guidance of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,

“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” for measure-

ment and recognition of stock-based transactions with

employees. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been 

recognized for its stock plans other than for the restricted

stock awards and stock appreciation rights. As required by

SFAS 123, the pro forma net earnings and earnings per

share information presented below includes the compensa-

tion cost of stock options issued to employees based on the

fair value at the grant date and includes compensation cost

for the 15% discount offered to participants in the

employees stock purchase plan.

2004 2003 2002

Net earnings (loss):

As reported $(11,822) $ 19,405 $(33,601)

Stock compensation 
expense reported in 
net earnings (loss),
net of tax effect 1,330 918 312

Less stock compensation 
expense, net of tax effect (2,069) (1,685) (1,228)

Pro forma net 
earnings (loss) $(12,561) $ 18,638 $(34,517)

Earnings (loss) 
per share – basic:

As reported (.52) .86 (1.50)

Pro forma (.55) .83 (1.54)

Earnings (loss) 
per share – diluted:

As reported (.52) .86 (1.50)

Pro forma (.55) .83 (1.54)

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the

date of grant by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model. The following weighted-average assumptions were

used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

Expected dividend yield 3.1% 4.4% 3.0%

Expected volatility 45% 47% 45%

Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 3.9% 4.9%

Expected option lives 8 years 8 years 8 years

Per share fair value of 
options granted $5.36 $3.33 $5.86

recent accounting standards – In December 2003,

the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 132

(revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and

Other Postretirement Benefits” (“SFAS 132R”). SFAS 132R

revises employers’ disclosures about pension plans and

other postretirement benefit plans to include information

describing the types of plan assets, investment strategy,

measurement dates, plan obligations, cash flows, and 

components of net periodic benefit cost recognized during

interim periods. SFAS 132R is effective for financial 

statements for interim or annual periods ending after

December 15, 2003. The corporation has provided the 

disclosures required in accordance with its terms.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 151 “Inventory Costs –

an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS 151”).

SFAS 151 clarifies the accounting for inventory when there

are abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, han-

dling costs, and wasted materials. Under existing generally

accepted accounting principles, items such as idle facility

expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and re-handling

costs may be “so abnormal” as to require treatment as cur-

rent period charges rather than recorded as adjustments 

to the value of the inventory. SFAS 151 requires that those

items be recognized as current-period charges regardless of

whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal.” In addi-

tion, SFAS 151 requires that allocation of fixed production

overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal

capacity of the production facilities. The provisions are 
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effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years

beginning after June 15, 2005. However, earlier application 

is permitted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years

beginning after the date this statement was issued. The 

corporation is currently evaluating the financial impact the

adoption of this standard will have on the corporation’s

financial position and results of operations. The changes will

be applied prospectively and disclosures, if any, will be

included upon the adoption of this standard.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),

“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires

entities to recognize the cost of employee services received

in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on 

the grant-date fair value of those awards. That cost will be

recognized over the period during which an employee is

required to provide service in exchange for the award – the

requisite service period (usually the vesting period). SFAS

123R is effective for financial statements as of the beginning

of the first interim or annual periods ending after June 15,

2005. The corporation will adopt this statement in accor-

dance with its terms and that adoption will have a negative

impact on consolidated results of operations and financial

position. The corporation anticipates that it will apply one 

of the prospective accounting methods for the application 

of SFAS 123R.

AC Q U I S I T I O N  O F  B U S I N E S S E S

In the aggregate, the corporation incurred $2,435, $7,748 

and $51,227 for the acquisition of businesses and contin-

gency payments at Dayron in 2004, 2003 and 2002,

respectively. There is potential for contingency payments at

Dayron of up to an additional $22,369 over time if certain

milestones are reached. Any such contingency payments

would be treated as additional goodwill. An accrual and

additional goodwill of $1,631 was recorded as of December

31, 2004 associated with these additional payments for

which milestones were met, which will be paid during the

first quarter 2005. Total contingency payments accrued or

paid through 2004 are $2,631.

During 2004 the corporation issued a note for $405 to

acquire certain assets, primarily consisting of inventory,

of Brivsa de Mexico, a small Monterrey, Mexico distributor,

expanding the corporation’s ability to serve customers with

operations in Mexico.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the corporation pur-

chased a majority of the assets and business of Industrial

Supplies, Inc. (“ISI”), located in Birmingham, Alabama. ISI

was a distributor of a wide variety of bearing, conveyor, elec-

trical, fluid power and power transmission components used

by manufacturing, mining, steel, lumber, pulp and paper, food

and other industries.The assets acquired, liabilities assumed

and results of operations of ISI since the acquisition have

been included in the Industrial Distribution segment.

In October 2002, the corporation purchased the stock of

Latin Percussion, Inc., a leading global distributor of a wide

range of latin hand percussion instruments. The assets

acquired, liabilities assumed and results of operations of

Latin Percussion, Inc. since the acquisition have been

included in the Music segment.

In July 2002, the corporation purchased the stock of RWG

Frankenjura-Industrie Flugwerklager GmbH (“RWG”), a

German aerospace bearing manufacturer that complements

the corporation’s proprietary line of bearings and provides 

a presence in European aerospace markets. The assets

acquired, liabilities assumed and results of operations of

RWG since the acquisition have been included in the 

Aerospace segment.

In July 2002, the corporation purchased the assets and

certain liabilities of Dayron (a division of DSE, Inc.), a

weapons fuze manufacturer, located in Orlando, Florida.

Dayron manufactures bomb fuzes for a variety of munitions

programs, including the U.S. Air Force Joint Programmable

Fuze (JPF) program. The assets acquired, liabilities assumed

and results of operations of Dayron since the acquisition

have been included in the Aerospace segment.

During 2002, the corporation acquired a 60% equity

interest in Delamac de Mexico S.A. de C.V. (“Delamac”), a

leading distributor of industrial products headquartered in

Mexico City. Delamac supplies power transmission, bearings
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and fluid power products. The assets acquired, liabilities

assumed and results of operations of Delamac since the

acquisition have been included in the Industrial Distribution

segment. During 2004, the corporation purchased an addi-

tional equity interest in Delamac and as of the end of 2004,

the corporation had a 72.5% equity interest in Delamac.

D I V E S T I T U R E S

In January 2003, the corporation sold its electric motor 

and drive business, operating as the Electromagnetics

Development Center (“EDC”) within the Kaman Aerospace

subsidiary, to DRS Technologies, Inc. for $27,500. The sale

resulted in a pre-tax gain of $17,415. The EDC contributed

sales of approximately $14,000 in 2002.

In April 2002, the corporation sold its microwave products

line to Meggitt Safety Systems, Inc. That product line was

associated with the former Kaman Sciences Corp., a sub-

sidiary which was sold in 1997, being no longer core to the

segment’s advanced technology business.

R E S T R U C T U R I N G  C O S T S

The Aerospace segment recorded pre-tax restructuring

costs of $8,290 in the second quarter of 2002 for the cost of

phasing out the company’s aircraft manufacturing plant in

Moosup, Connecticut. The charges represented severance

costs of $3,290 at the Moosup and Bloomfield, Connecticut

locations for approximately 400 employees and costs 

of $5,000 for closing the facility (including costs of an

ongoing voluntary environmental remediation program 

and ultimate disposal).

The following table displays the activity and balances of

the pre-tax charges relating to the Moosup plant closure as

of and for the year ended December 31, 2004:

CASH
PAYMENTS, NON-CASH

2003 NET CHARGES 2004

Restructuring costs:

Employee 
termination benefits $ 1,109 $ (1,109) $ — $ —

Facility closings 5,000 (1,238) — 3,762

$ 6,109 $ (2,347) $ — $3,762

During 2004 and 2003, the corporation incurred an 

additional $412 and $3,550, respectively of period costs 

for moving machinery to other company facilities and 

recertifying certain products and processes.

A S S E T  W R I T E - D OW N S / W R I T E - O F F S

During the second quarter of 2002, as a result of manage-

ment’s evaluation of the K-MAX program, the Aerospace

segment wrote-down its K-MAX helicopter program assets,

including $46,665 for inventories and $3,335 for capital

equipment. In addition, the segment wrote-off Moosup

facility assets of $2,679, as a result of the previously

described facility closure. These charges are included 

in cost of sales for 2002. In 2004, the Aerospace segment

wrote down inventories of $962 for its Boeing Harbour

Pointe contract, as further described in the Accrued Contract

Losses note.

AC C R U E D  C O N T R AC T  L O S S E S

During the second quarter of 2002, the Aerospace segment

recorded a pre-tax charge of $25,000 for estimated cost

growth on the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program,

which put the contract in a loss position. Accordingly, the

corporation eliminated the $6,505 profit element of previ-

ously recorded sales and recognized pre-tax loss accruals 

of $18,495 for anticipated cost growth associated with 

completion of the aircraft, and final integration and testing

of the aircraft’s advanced Integrated Tactical Avionic System

(“ITAS”) software.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Aerospace 

segment recorded an additional loss accrual of $2,413 for the

Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program. This loss accrual

reflected the impact of higher overhead rates, which were

attributable to lower production activity in the corporation’s

aerospace subsidiary.

Production of the eleven SH-2G(A) aircraft for the 

program is essentially complete. As previously reported,

the aircraft lack the full ITAS software and progress is 

continuing on this element of the program. Due to the com-

plexity of the integration process and testing results that

indicate additional work to be done, the corporation added
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$5,474 to its accrued contract loss during 2004 to reflect the

current estimate of costs to complete the program.

During the second quarter of 2004, the corporation

recorded a $7,086 non-cash adjustment for the Boeing

Harbour Pointe contract in the Aerospace segment. The

adjustment consisted of an accrued contract loss of $4,280

and a valuation adjustment of $2,806 associated with por-

tions of the program inventory. Subsequent to the second

quarter, the corporation received additional program orders

that will utilize certain existing inventory. While the total

non-cash adjustment remained the same for the year, the

amount of accrued contract loss increased to $6,124 and the

inventory valuation adjustment decreased to $962 as a result

of these additional orders.

AC C O U N T S  R E C E I VA B L E , N E T

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

December 31 2004 2003

Trade receivables $ 87,158 $ 78,156

U.S. Government contracts:

Billed 15,360 9,355

Costs and accrued profit – not billed 5,062 10,014

Commercial and other 
government contracts:

Billed 25,057 19,711

Costs and accrued profit – not billed 63,024 79,347

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (5,520) (3,340)

Total $190,141 $193,243

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects manage-

ment’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the 

trade accounts receivable and billed contracts balance.

Management determines the allowance based on known

troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently

available evidence.

Costs and accrued profit – not billed represent costs

incurred on contracts which will become billable upon future

deliveries, achievement of specific contract milestones or

completion of engineering and service type contracts.

Management estimates that approximately $6,435 of such

costs and accrued profits at December 31, 2004 will be col-

lected after one year.The costs included in this estimate are

for the corporation’s program with the Royal Australian Navy.

The corporation’s Aerospace segment also had a program

with MD Helicopters, Inc. (“MDHI”) that involved multi-year

contracts for production of fuselages for the MDHI 500 and

600 series helicopters and composite rotor blades for the MD

Explorer helicopter. Because of unresolved payment issues,

the company had stopped work on the program in 2003.

It had been the corporation’s expectation that MDHI

would be successful in executing its strategy to improve its

financial and operational circumstances. MDHI manage-

ment had indicated that, although it continued to work on

this strategy, it had not been able to resolve the situation;

therefore, due to unresolved payment issues and the

inability of MDHI to successfully execute its strategy to

improve its financial and operational circumstances, the 

corporation recorded a non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings

charge of $20,083 (including an $18,211 negative sales

adjustment for costs not billed and a $1,872 addition to the

corporation’s bad debt reserve for billed receivables) in the

third quarter 2004 that eliminated the corporation’s invest-

ment in contracts with MDHI. The charge is not expected 

to result in any future cash expenditures. The corporation

intends to maintain a business relationship with MDHI

should it be successful in improving its financial and 

operational situation.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter 2004, the corpora-

tion recorded a non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings

adjustment of $3,471 (includes a $3,221 negative sales

adjustment for costs not billed and a $250 addition to the

corporation’s bad debt reserve for billed receivables) that

was previously recognized for a contract with the University

of Arizona due to the curtailment of the contract. This

matter is further discussed in the corporation’s commit-

ments and contingencies footnote.
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I N V E N T O R I E S

Inventories are comprised as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Merchandise for resale $103,117 $ 94,042

Contracts in process:

U.S. Government, net of progress 
payments of $11,325 and $12,876
for 2004 and 2003, respectively 29,600 21,127

Commercial 21,173 15,895

Other work in process (including 
certain general stock materials) 21,284 23,103

Finished goods 21,544 24,785

Total $196,718 $178,952

Included above in other work in process and finished

goods at December 31, 2004 and 2003 is K-MAX inventory 

of $29,944 and $33,437, respectively.

The corporation had inventory of $3,743 and $3,532 as of

December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively on consignment 

at customer locations, specifically related to the Industrial

Distribution segment.

The aggregate amounts of general and administrative

costs incurred in the Aerospace segment during 2004, 2003

and 2002 were $24,523, $34,793, and $51,845 respectively.

The estimated amounts of general and administrative costs

remaining in contracts in process at December 31, 2004 and

2003 amount to $6,254 and $4,118, respectively, and are based

on the ratio of such allocated costs to total costs incurred.

P R O P E RT Y, P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T, N E T

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and

summarized as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Land $ 4,251 $ 4,236

Buildings 29,423 29,070

Leasehold improvements 13,800 13,486

Machinery, office furniture 
and equipment 111,125 107,239

Total 158,599 154,031

Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization 109,641 102,982

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 48,958 $ 51,049

Idle facilities and related costs for the Aerospace segment

of $3,330 and $1,386 for 2004 and 2003, respectively were

included in cost of sales. There were no idle facility and

related costs during 2002.

Depreciation expense was $8,835, $9,884 and $11,486 for

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

G O O DW I L L  A N D  O T H E R  I N TA N G I B L E  A S S E T S, N E T

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net are as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Goodwill:

Aerospace $ 34,010 $ 31,690

Industrial Distribution 4,252 4,277

Music 2,671 2,671

$ 40,933 $ 38,638

December 31 2004 2003

Other intangible assets, net:

Trade name – not subject 
to amortization $ 13,819 $ 13,819

Patents, net – subject to amortization 786 890

$ 14,605 $ 14,709

Intangible amortization expense was $104 in 2004 

compared to $107 in 2003 and 2002.

Amortization expense for each of the next five years is

expected to approximate $105 per year.

C R E D I T  A R R A N G E M E N T S  —  S H O RT- T E R M  B O R R OW I N G S
A N D  L O N G - T E R M  D E B T

revolving credit agreement – The corporation maintains

a revolving credit agreement, as amended, (the “Revolving

Credit Agreement”) with several banks that provides a

$150,000 five-year commitment scheduled to expire in

November 2005. Prior to November 2003, the corporation

also maintained a $75,000 “364-day” annually renewable

facility as part of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Both por-

tions of the Revolving Credit Agreement provide for interest

at current market rates. In view of the longer term attrac-

tiveness of fixed rates in the current environment and the

fact that the “364-day” facility had never been used, the cor-

poration permitted the facility to expire in November 2003.
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Effective September 30, 2004, the Revolving Credit

Agreement was amended to permit the corporation to exclude

the MDHI non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings charge, up to

$21,000, from the calculations that are made to determine

compliance with the agreement’s financial covenants.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Revolving Credit

Agreement was amended to give lenders under a potential

new fixed rate financing of up to $75,000 the same covenant

and guarantee protections that the Revolving Credit

Agreement lenders currently possess. As the corporation

elected not to pursue fixed rate financing, the provisions of

the amendment were allowed to expire on June 30, 2004.

In the second quarter of 2002, the Revolving Credit

Agreement was amended to exclude the non-cash portion 

of the 2002 second quarter charges, up to $52,500, from the

financial covenant calculations under the agreement.

In general, outstanding letters of credit are considered

indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Agreement. As 

of December 31, 2004, there was $115,818 available for 

borrowing under the Revolving Credit Agreement.

S H O RT- T E R M  B O R R OW I N G S

Under the Revolving Credit Agreement, the corporation 

has the ability to borrow funds on both a short-term and

long-term basis. The corporation also has certain other

credit arrangements with these banks to borrow funds on 

a short-term basis with interest at current market rates.

Short-term borrowings outstanding are as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Revolving credit agreement $ — $ —

Other credit arrangements 7,255 6,013

Total $ 7,255 $ 6,013

The weighted average interest rates on short-term bor-

rowings outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were

2.72% and 2.46%, respectively.

long-term debt – The corporation has long-term debt 

as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Revolving credit agreement $ 5,000 $ 7,000

Other credit arrangements 276 —

Euro credit agreement 10,968 9,718

Convertible subordinated debentures 19,906 21,566

Total 36,150 38,284

Less current portion 17,628 1,660

Total excluding current portion $ 18,522 $ 36,624

In the third quarter of 2002, the corporation entered into

a 9,500 Euro credit agreement (the “Euro Credit

Agreement”) with one of the Revolving Credit Agreement

lenders. In general, the Euro Credit Agreement contains 

the same financial covenants as the Revolving Credit

Agreement described previously and the term of the Euro

Credit Agreement expires at the same time as the Revolving

Credit Agreement, November 2005. During the third quarter

of 2003 and 2004, the Euro Credit Agreement was amended

to conform with the previously described amendment to 

the Revolving Credit Agreement.

The corporation plans to replace the expiring Revolving

Credit Agreement and the Euro Credit Agreement with

another arrangement that meets its financing requirements.

Consequently, at December 31, 2004, borrowings under the

Revolving Credit Agreement and the Euro Credit Agreement

are included in the current portion of long-term debt.

restrictive covenants – The most restrictive of the

covenants contained in the Revolving Credit Agreement

require the corporation to have i) EBITDA, as defined, at

least equal to 300% of net interest expense on the basis of a

rolling four quarters, ii) a ratio of accounts receivable and

inventory for certain Kaman subsidiaries to the corpora-

tion’s consolidated total indebtedness of not less than 1.6 

to 1 at any time that the ratio of EBITDA to net interest

expense is less than 6 to 1, and iii) a ratio of consolidated total

indebtedness to total capitalization of not more than 55%.
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As permitted under the Revolving Credit Agreement, the

MDHI non-cash sales and pre-tax earnings charge, up to

$21,000, was excluded from the financial covenant calcula-

tions. The non-cash portion of the 2002 second quarter

charges, up to $52,500, were excluded from the financial

covenant calculations during the four quarters ended March

31, 2003. The corporation remains in compliance with the

required financial covenants in each period presented.

certain letters of credit – The face amounts of irrev-

ocable letters of credit issued under the Revolving Credit

Agreement totaled $29,182 and $29,769 at December 31,

2004 and 2003, respectively. Of those amounts, $23,000 is

attributable to the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter program.

convertible subordinated debentures – The corpora-

tion issued its 6% convertible subordinated debentures

during 1987. The debentures are convertible into shares 

of the Class A common stock of Kaman Corporation at any

time on or before March 15, 2012 at a conversion price 

of $23.36 per share at the option of the holder unless 

previously redeemed by the corporation. Pursuant to a

sinking fund requirement that began March 15, 1997, the

corporation redeems $1,660 of the outstanding principal

amount of the debentures annually.The debentures are sub-

ordinated to the claims of senior debt holders and general

creditors.These debentures have a book value of $19,906 at

December 31, 2004, which is estimated to be at fair value.

Deferred charges associated with the issuance of the deben-

ture are being amortized over the terms of the debentures.

long-term debt annual maturities – The aggregate

amounts of annual maturities of long-term debt for each of the

next five years and thereafter are approximately as follows:

2005 $ 17,628

2006 1,798

2007 1,798

2008 1,660

2009 1,660

Thereafter 11,606

interest payments – Cash payments for interest were

$3,676, $3,174 and $2,668 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

A DVA N C E S  O N  C O N T R AC T S

Advances on contracts include customer advances together

with customer payments and billings associated with the

achievement of certain contract milestones in excess of costs

incurred, primarily for the Australia SH-2G(A) helicopter

contract.The customer advances for that contract are fully

secured by letters of credit. It is anticipated that the advances

on contracts along with the majority of these letters of credit

will remain in place until final acceptance of the aircraft by

the Royal Australian Navy, which is expected in 2005.

WA R R A N T Y  R E S E RV E

During the fourth quarter 2004, the corporation established 

a $3,507 warranty reserve to provide for two product 

warranty-related issues. The first involved a supplier recall

of a switch embedded in certain of Dayron’s bomb fuzes.

The other involved bomb fuzes manufactured according 

to procedures in place at the time that Dayron was acquired

by the corporation that now have been found to contain an

incorrect part. The corporation is working with its customers

and other parties to resolve the issues appropriately. No

payments related to this warranty reserve were paid in 2004.

I N C O M E  TA X E S

The components of income tax expense (benefit) are 

as follows:
2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal $ 3,203 $ 5,205 $ (1,447)

State 1,770 429 698

Foreign 1,102 797 273

6,075 6,431 (476)

Deferred:

Federal (9,359) 5,772 (17,111)

State (1,918) 222 262

Foreign (140) — —

(11,417) 5,994 (16,849)

Total $ (5,342) $ 12,425 $(17,325)
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The components of the deferred tax assets and deferred

tax liabilities are presented below:

December 31 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Long-term contracts $ 15,012 $ 9,284

Deferred employee benefits 21,396 15,559

Inventory 7,712 6,970

Restructuring costs 1,317 2,065

Accrued liabilities and other items 7,415 6,164

Total deferred tax assets 52,852 40,042

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (7,033) (7,124)

Intangibles (2,413) (1,509)

Other items (1,320) (898)

Total deferred tax liabilities (10,766) (9,531)

Net deferred tax asset 
before valuation allowance 42,086 30,511

Valuation allowance (2,163) (2,005)

Net deferred tax asset 
after valuation allowance $ 39,923 $ 28,506

Valuation allowances of $2,163 and $2,005 at December

31, 2004 and 2003 reduced the deferred tax asset attribut-

able to foreign loss and state loss and credit carryforwards

to an amount that, based upon all available information, is

more likely than not to be realized. Reversal of the valuation

allowance is contingent upon the recognition of future 

taxable income in the respective jurisdiction or changes in

circumstances which cause the recognition of the benefits of

the loss carryforwards to become more likely than not. The

net increase in the valuation allowance of $158 is due to the

generation of $301 state loss and tax credit carryforwards,

offset by $143 of current and anticipated utilization of

Canadian tax loss carryforwards. Canadian tax loss carryfor-

wards are approximately $3,148, and could expire between

2005 and 2010. State carryforwards are in numerous juris-

dictions with varying lives.

No valuation allowance has been recorded against other

deferred tax assets because the corporation believes that

these deferred tax assets will, more likely than not, be 

realized. This determination is based largely upon the 

corporation’s anticipated future income, as well as its ability

to carryback reversing items within two years to offset taxes

paid. In addition, the corporation has the ability to offset

deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities created

for such items as depreciation and amortization.

Pre-tax income from foreign operations amounted to

$3,227, $1,736 and $69 in 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

Income taxes have not been provided on undistributed

earnings of $4,944 from foreign subsidiaries since it is the

corporation’s intention to permanently reinvest such earn-

ings or to distribute them only when it is tax efficient to do

so. It is impracticable to estimate the total tax liability, if any,

which would be caused by the future distribution of these

earnings. It is anticipated that the corporation’s repatriation

policy will not be impacted by the recently enacted provi-

sions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

The provision for income taxes differs from that computed

at the federal statutory corporate tax rate as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Federal tax (benefit) at 
35% statutory rate $ (6,007) $ 11,141 $(17,824)

State income taxes, net of 
federal benefit (127) 810 682

Tax effect of:

Prior years’ overaccruals — (329) (1,156)

Compensation 617 95 502

Meals and entertainment 413 398 392

Other, net (238) 310 79

Income taxes (benefit) $ (5,342) $ 12,425 $(17,325)

Cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds, were

$2,198, $2,062, and $3,562 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

P E N S I O N  P L A N

The corporation has a non-contributory defined benefit

pension plan covering the full-time U.S. employees of all

U.S. subsidiaries (with the exception of certain acquired

companies that have not adopted the plan). Employees

become participants of the plan upon their completion of
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hours of service requirements. Benefits under this plan are

generally based upon an employee’s years of service and

compensation levels during employment with an offset pro-

vision for social security benefits. Plan assets are invested in

a diversified portfolio consisting of equity and fixed income

securities (including $9,646 of Class A common stock of

Kaman Corporation at December 31, 2004). The corporation

uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension plan.

The pension plan costs were computed using the pro-

jected unit credit actuarial cost method and include the

following components:

2004 2003 2002

Service cost for benefits
earned during the year $ 10,233 $ 10,000 $ 10,061

Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 24,653 24,348 24,045

Expected return on 
plan assets (28,675) (31,445) (32,761)

Net amortization 
and deferral 6 6 (1,382)

Net pension cost (income) $ 6,217 $ 2,909 $ (37)

The change in actuarial present value of the projected

benefit obligation is as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation 
at beginning of year $389,892 $361,213

Service cost 10,233 10,000

Interest cost 24,653 24,348

Actuarial liability loss 27,166 12,902

Benefit payments (19,590) (18,571)

Projected benefit obligation 
at end of year $432,354 $389,892

The actuarial liability losses for 2004 and 2003 are princi-

pally due to effect of the changes in the discount rate.

The change in fair value of plan assets is as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Fair value of plan assets at 
beginning of year $386,848 $337,813

Actual return on plan assets 39,924 66,200

Employer contribution — 1,406

Benefit payments (19,590) (18,571)

Fair value of plan assets 
at end of year $407,182 $386,848

December 31 2004 2003

Excess (deficiency) of assets over 
projected benefit obligation $(25,171) $ (3,044)

Unrecognized prior service cost 564 570

Unrecognized net (gain) loss 19,488 3,572

Accrued (prepaid) pension cost $ 5,119 $ (1,098)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan

was $389,471 and $350,635 at December 31, 2004 and 2003,

respectively.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected

future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

2005 $ 21,137

2006 21,695

2007 22,101

2008 22,834

2009 23,955

2010 – 2014 136,513

The actuarial assumptions used in determining both 

benefit obligations of the pension plan are as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Discount rate 6.0% 6.5%

Average rate of increase 
in compensation levels 3.5% 3.5%
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The actuarial assumptions used in determining the net

periodic benefit cost of the pension plan are as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Discount rate 6.5% 7.0%

Expected return on plan assets 8.0% 8.5%

Average rate of increase 
in compensation levels 3.5% 4.0%

The expected return on plan assets rate was determined

based upon historical returns adjusted for estimated future

market fluctuations.

The weighted-average asset allocations by asset category

are as follows:

December 31 2004 2003

Equity securities 64% 58%

Fixed income securities 36% 42%

Total 100% 100%

The investment policies and goals for pension plan assets

are a) to place assets with investment managers approved

by the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors b) to

diversify across traditional equity and fixed income asset

classes to minimize the risk of large losses and c) to seek the

highest total return (through a combination of income and

asset appreciation) consistent with prudent investment

practice, and on a five-year moving basis, not less than the

actuarial earnings assumption.

The target equity/fixed asset allocation ratio is 60%/40%

over the long term. If the ratio for any asset class moves out-

side permitted ranges, the pension plan’s Administrative

Committee (the management committee that is responsible

for plan administration) will act through an immediate or

gradual process, as appropriate, to reallocate assets.

Under the current investment policy no investment is

made in commodities, nor are short sales, margin buying

hedges, covered or uncovered call options, puts, straddles 

or other speculative trading devices permitted. No manager

may invest in international securities, inflation linked 

treasuries, real estate, private equities, or securities of

Kaman Corporation without authorization from the corpora-

tion. In addition, with the exception of U.S. Government

securities, managers’ holdings in the securities of any issuer,

at the time of purchase, may not exceed 7.5% of the total

market value of that manager’s account.

Investment manager performance is evaluated over 

various time periods in relation to peers and the following

indexes: Domestic Equity Investments, S&P 500;

International Equity Investments, Morgan Stanley EAFE;

Fixed Income Investments, Lehman Brothers’ Aggregate.

The corporation expects to contribute $4,900 to the pen-

sion plan in 2005.

The corporation also maintains a defined contribution

plan which has been adopted by certain of its U.S. sub-

sidiaries. All employees of adopting employers who meet 

the eligibility requirements of the plan may participate.

Employer matching contributions are currently made to 

the plan with respect to a percentage of each participant’s

pre-tax contribution. For each dollar that a participant 

contributes, up to 5% of compensation, participating sub-

sidiaries make employer contributions of fifty cents ($.50).

Employer contributions to the plan totaled $2,917, $2,900

and $3,019 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Certain acquired U.S. subsidiaries maintain their own

defined contribution plans for their eligible employees.

Employer matching contributions are made on a discre-

tionary basis.

O T H E R  L O N G - T E R M  L I A B I L I T I E S

Other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

December 31 2004 2003

Supplemental employees’ 
retirement plan $ 19,455 $ 15,199

Deferred compensation 9,050 8,521

Minority Interest 1,046 1,254

Other 3,983 2,975

Total $ 33,534 $ 27,949
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The corporation has a non-qualified Supplemental

Employees’ Retirement Plan (“SERP”). The SERP provides

certain key executives, whose compensation is in excess of

the limitations imposed by federal law on the qualified

defined benefit pension plan with supplemental benefits

based upon eligible earnings, years of services and age 

at retirement.

Major assumptions used in the accounting for SERP 

liability include a discount rate of 6.0% and 6.5% for 2004

and 2003, respectively, rate of increase in employee compen-

sation levels, assumed retirement date and mortality rate.

C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

Rent commitments under various leases for office space,

warehouses, land and buildings expire at varying dates from

January 2005 to December 2013. The standard term for most

leases ranges from 3 to 5 years. Some of the corporation’s

leases have rent escalations, rent holidays or contingent rent

that, if significant, are recognized on a straight-lined basis

over the entire lease term. Material leasehold improvements

and other landlord incentives are amortized over the shorter

of its economic life or the lease term, including renewal

periods, if reasonably assured. Certain annual rentals are

subject to renegotiation, with certain leases renewable for

varying periods. The corporation recognizes rent expense

for leases on a straight-line basis over the entire lease term.

Lease periods for machinery and equipment range from 

1 to 5 years.

Substantially all real estate taxes, insurance and mainte-

nance expenses are obligations of the corporation. It is

expected that in the normal course of business, leases 

that expire will be renewed or replaced by leases on 

other properties.

The following future minimum rental payments are

required under operating leases that have initial or

remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year

as of December 31, 2004:

2005 $ 14,390

2006 10,648

2007 6,682

2008 2,852

2009 2,224

Thereafter 5,191

Total $ 41,987

Lease expense for all operating leases, including leases

with terms of less than one year, amounted to $16,585,

$15,878 and $15,172 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The corporation is in discussions with U.S. Naval Air

Systems Command (NAVAIR) regarding the potential 

purchase by the company of a portion of the Bloomfield

complex that Aerospace currently leases from NAVAIR and

has operated for several decades for the principal purpose

of performing U.S. government contracts. As of the end of

2004, there has been no finalization as to the method that

would be used to calculate the purchase price of that portion

of the Bloomfield complex. In conjunction with the purchase

of the property, there is a possibility that the corporation

may agree to undertake some level of environmental reme-

diation as part of the sale of the property. Management has

considered the liability based upon the guidance set forth 

in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5

(“SFAS 5”) and has not been able to determine a range 

or magnitude of the potential environmental liability for 

disclosure purposes as of December 31, 2004.

From time to time, the corporation is subject to various

claims and suits arising out of the ordinary course of busi-

ness, including commercial, employment and environmental

matters. While the ultimate result of all such matters is not

presently determinable, based upon its current knowledge,

management does not expect that their resolution will have

a material adverse effect on the corporation’s consolidated

financial position.



65.

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 0 4 ,  2 0 0 3  A N D  2 0 0 2
K A M A N  C O R P O R AT I O N  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S
( I N  T H O U S A N D S  E X C E P T  S H A R E  A N D  P E R  S H A R E  A M O U N T S )

The corporation’s Electro-Optics Development Center

(“EODC”) submitted a claim for $6,300 to the University of

Arizona in April 2004 to recover additional costs that the cor-

poration believes are a result of changes in the scope of the

project being performed under a $12,800 fixed-price contract

with the University.The corporation was unable to resolve

the matter and filed suit in September 2004 to recover these

costs.Work on the project was also discontinued at that time.

As discussed in the Accounts Receivable note, the corpora-

tion recorded a fourth quarter 2004 non-cash sales and

pre-tax earnings adjustment of $3,471 due to the change in

the corporation’s expectation about the likelihood of per-

forming further work under the contract.The University filed

a counterclaim and the litigation process is ongoing.

Management has not been able to make a determination as

to the outcome of the litigation as of December 31, 2004.

C O M P U TAT I O N  O F  E A R N I N G S  ( L O S S )  P E R  S H A R E

The earnings (loss) per share – basic computation is based

on the net earnings (loss) divided by the weighted average

number of shares of common stock outstanding for each year.

The earnings (loss) per share – diluted computation

assumes that at the beginning of the year the 6% convertible

subordinated debentures are converted into Class A

common stock with the resultant reduction in interest costs

net of tax. The earnings (loss) per share – diluted computa-

tion also includes the common stock equivalency of dilutive

options granted to employees under the Stock Incentive

Plan. Excluded from the earnings (loss) per share – diluted

calculation are options granted to employees that are anti-

dilutive based on the average stock price of 184,571, 315,884

and 110,622 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002, respectively.

2004 2003 2002

Earnings (loss) 
per share – basic

Net earnings (loss) $(11,822) $ 19,405 $(33,601)

Weighted average shares 
outstanding (000) 22,700 22,561 22,408

Earnings (loss) 
per share – basic $ (.52) $ .86 $ (1.50)

Earnings (loss) 
per share – diluted

Net earnings (loss) $(11,822) $ 19,405 $(33,601)

Plus:

After-tax interest 
savings on convertible
debentures — 806 —

Net earnings (loss) 
assuming conversion $(11,822) $ 20,211 $(33,601)

Weighted average 
shares outstanding (000) 22,700 22,561 22,408

Plus shares issuable on:

Conversion of 
6% convertible 
debentures — 938 —

Exercise of 
dilutive options — 43 —

Weighted average 
shares outstanding 
assuming conversion (000) 22,700 23,542 22,408

Earnings (loss) 
per share – diluted 1 $ (.52) $ .86 $ (1.50)

1: The calculated diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts 
for 2004 and 2002 are anti-dilutive, therefore, amounts shown are
equal to the basic earnings (loss) per share calculation. Potentially
diluted average shares outstanding of 942,000 and 1,145,000 from
the conversion of the debentures and the exercise of dilutive stock
options for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002,
respectively, have been excluded from the average diluted shares
outstanding due to the loss from operations in those years.
Additionally, after-tax interest savings on convertible debentures 
of $807 and $918 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002,
respectively, have been excluded from net earnings (loss) due to 
the loss in operations in those years.
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S T O C K  P L A N S

employees stock purchase plan – The Kaman

Corporation Employees Stock Purchase Plan allows

employees to purchase Class A common stock of the corpo-

ration, through payroll deductions, at 85% of the market

value of shares at the time of purchase. The plan provides

for the grant of rights to employees to purchase a maximum

of 1,500,000 shares of Class A common stock. There are no

charges or credits to income in connection with the plan.

During 2004, 111,669 shares were issued to employees at

prices ranging from $9.45 to $12.61. During 2003, 129,787

shares were issued to employees at prices ranging from

$8.02 to $11.90 per share. During 2002, 115,316 shares were

issued to employees at prices ranging from $8.59 to $15.33

per share. At December 31, 2004, there were approximately

623,818 shares available for offering under the plan.

stock incentive plan – The 2003 Stock Incentive Plan

(the “2003 Plan”) which was effective November 1, 2003, was

approved by shareholders at the 2004 annual meeting. In

general, the 2003 Plan provides for the issuance of 2,000,000

shares of Class A common stock and includes a continuation

and extension of the stock incentive program embodied in the

1993 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1993 Plan”), which expired 

on October 31, 2003. As with the 1993 Plan, the 2003 Plan pro-

vides for the grant of non-statutory stock options, incentive

stock options, restricted stock awards and stock appreciation

rights primarily to officers and other key employees.

The 1993 and 2003 Plans also include a long-term incen-

tive award feature under which senior executives specifically

designated for participation are given the opportunity to

receive award payments in a combination of cash and stock

at the end of a three-year performance cycle, including a

transition period of a two-year performance cycle. For the

performance cycle, the corporation’s financial results are

compared to the Russell 2000 indices using the following

specific measures: average return on total capital, earnings

per share growth and total return to shareholders. Full award

payments under this long-term incentive feature are not

made unless the corporation’s performance is at least in the

50th percentile of the designated indices. In addition, the

2003 Plan contains provisions intended to qualify the plan

under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,

as amended. As of December 31, 2004, the corporation had

accrued $2,890 for the long-term incentive award feature.

At December 31, 2004, there were 2,070,509 shares 

available for the granting of stock options.

Stock options are granted at prices not less than the fair

market value at the date of grant. Options granted under the

plan generally expire ten years from the date of grant and

are exercisable on a cumulative basis with respect to 20% of

the optioned shares on each of the five anniversaries from

the date of grant. Restricted stock awards are generally

granted with restrictions that lapse at the rate of 20% per

year and are amortized through equity accordingly. Stock

appreciation rights generally expire ten years from the date

of grant and are exercisable on a cumulative basis with

respect to 20% of the rights on each of the five anniversaries

from the date of grant. These awards are subject to forfeiture

if a recipient separates from service with the corporation.

Stock option activity is as follows:
WEIGHTED-

AVERAGE
EXERCISE

Stock options outstanding: OPTIONS PRICE

Balance at January 1, 2002 1,259,130 $ 13.71

Options granted 211,500 14.50

Options exercised (172,010) 11.60

Options cancelled (79,820) 14.76

Balance at December 31, 2002 1,218,800 14.08

Options granted 171,500 9.90

Options exercised (31,310) 9.65

Options cancelled (83,320) 13.47

Balance at December 31, 2003 1,275,670 13.67

Options granted 176,565 14.03

Options exercised (48,350) 10.13

Options cancelled (76,080) 14.07

Balance at December 31, 2004 1,327,805 $ 13.82

Weighted average contractual life

remaining at December 31, 2004 5.7 years

Range of exercise prices for options $ 9.90– $ 13.46–

outstanding at December 31, 2004 $ 13.45 $ 17.00

Options outstanding 407,530 920,275

Options exercisable 254,130 560,110

Weighted average contractual

remaining life of 
options outstanding 5.2 years 5.9 years

Weighted average exercise price:

Options outstanding $ 10.78 $ 15.17

Options exercisable $ 11.20 $ 15.40
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As of December 31, 2003 and 2002 there were 680,170 and

553,870 options exercisable, respectively.

Restricted stock awards were made for 9,000 shares at

$14.68 per share in 2004, 53,500 shares at prices ranging

from $9.90 to $9.91 per share in 2003 and 56,000 shares at

prices ranging from $14.50 to $17.74 per share in 2002. At

December 31, 2004, there were 96,740 shares remaining 

subject to restrictions pursuant to these awards.

Stock appreciation rights were issued for 314,300 shares

at $9.90 per share in 2003 and 136,000 shares at $14.50 per

share in 2002, to be settled only for cash. There were no

stock appreciation rights issued in 2004. The corporation

recorded expense for stock appreciation rights of $212 in

2004 and $585 in 2003, and income of $440 in 2002 due to

fluctuations in the market price of the shares.

S E G M E N T  I N F O R M AT I O N

The corporation reports results in three business segments –

Aerospace, Industrial Distribution and Music.

The Aerospace segment produces aircraft structures and

components for military and commercial aircraft, including

specialized aircraft bearings, markets and supports the 

SH-2G Super Seasprite naval helicopter and the K-MAX

medium-to-heavy lift helicopter, and provides various

advanced technology products serving critical specialized

markets including missile and bomb fuzing.

The Industrial Distribution segment is the nation’s third

largest distributor of power transmission, motion control,

material handling and electrical components and a wide

range of bearings. Products and value-added services are

offered to a customer base of more than 50,000 companies

representing a highly diversified cross-section of North

American industry.

The Music segment is the largest independent distributor

of musical instruments and accessories, offering more than

15,000 products for amateurs and professionals. Proprietary

products include Ovation®, Takamine®, and Hamer® guitars,

Latin Percussion® and Toca® instruments, Gibraltar® 

percussion hardware and Gretsch® professional drum sets.

Summarized financial information by business segment is

as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net sales:

Aerospace $252,348 $251,161 $275,942

Industrial Distribution 581,843 497,895 477,156

Music 161,001 145,443 127,678

$995,192 $894,499 $880,776

Operating income (loss):

Aerospace $(14,303) $ 14,848 $(55,208)

Industrial Distribution 19,338 12,672 12,344

Music 11,085 9,510 7,157

Net gain on sale of 
product lines and 
other assets 199 18,163 2,299

Corporate expense (28,850) (19,090) (13,201)

Operating income (loss) (12,531) 36,103 (46,609)

Interest expense, net (3,580) (3,008) (2,486)

Other expense, net (1,053) (1,265) (1,831)

Earnings (loss) 
before income taxes $(17,164) $ 31,830 $(50,926)

Identifiable assets:

Aerospace $289,343 $294,345 $308,275

Industrial Distribution 164,711 150,115 144,585

Music 76,764 65,704 68,448

Corporate 31,513 18,147 14,232

$562,331 $528,311 $535,540

Capital expenditures:

Aerospace $ 3,615 $ 7,321 $ 5,255

Industrial Distribution 2,709 1,079 1,494

Music 1,074 522 515

Corporate 141 147 337

$ 7,539 $ 9,069 $ 7,601

Depreciation and amortization:

Aerospace $ 5,468 $ 6,138 $ 6,773

Industrial Distribution 1,972 1,989 2,457

Music 963 1,143 1,278

Corporate 566 749 1,112

$ 8,969 $ 10,019 $ 11,620
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2004 2003 2002

Geographic information – net sales:

United States $859,539 $760,444 $758,240

Australia/New Zealand 44,278 52,453 64,071

Canada 37,205 31,469 28,049

Europe 29,857 27,400 14,933

Mexico 13,462 13,652 8,046

Japan 4,272 4,774 4,492

Other 6,579 4,307 2,945

$995,192 $894,499 $880,776

Operating income is total revenues less cost of sales and

selling, general and administrative expense including corpo-

rate expense. Operating income includes net gain on sale of

product lines and other assets of which $17,415 related to

the sale of the EDC operation in 2003 and $1,928 related to

the sale of the microwave product line in 2002.

During 2004, the Aerospace segment recorded adjust-

ments of approximately $41,600 primarily consisting of

non-cash sales adjustments for MD Helicopters, Inc.,

University of Arizona and Boeing Harbour Point. Further

adjustments relate to additional accrued contract loss for the

Australian SH-2G(A) program and product warranty related

issue for Dayron. During the second quarter of 2002, the

segment recorded a pre-tax charge of $85,969 to cover the

write-down of K-MAX helicopter assets, principally inven-

tories; for cost growth associated with the Australian

SH-2G(A) helicopter program; and to phase out operations

at the company’s Moosup, Connecticut plant by the end of

2003. The SH-2G(A) contract has been in a loss position

since 2002.

Identifiable assets are year-end assets at their 

respective net carrying value segregated as to segment 

and corporate use.

For the periods presented, the corporate assets are princi-

pally comprised of cash, short-term and long-term deferred

income tax assets, cash surrender value for life insurance

policies and fixed assets. The increase in corporate assets

are principally due to a significant increase in the net

deferred income taxes of $10,995 and an increase in prepaid

insurance of $2,039.

Net sales by the Aerospace segment made under contracts

with U.S. Government agencies (including sales to foreign

governments through foreign military sales contracts with

U.S. Government agencies) account for $112,540, $91,618

and $102,241 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Sales made by the Aerospace segment under a contract

with one customer were $39,634, $46,322 and $52,029 in

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Glenn M. Messemer 
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Michael J. Morneau
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Eric B. Remington
Assistant Vice President– 
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John J. Tedone
Assistant Vice President–
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Patricia C. Goldenberg
Assistant Treasurer
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Paul R. Kuhn
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer
Kaman Corporation
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Company, LP

E. Reeves Callaway III
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Investor Information Directory

investor, media and public relations contact
Russell H. Jones
Senior Vice President,
Chief Investment Officer and Treasurer
Telephone: (860) 243-6307
E-mail: rhj-corp@kaman.com

mailing address
Kaman Corporation
1332 Blue Hills Avenue
P.O. Box 1
Bloomfield, Connecticut 06002

public securities information
Listing: Nasdaq
Symbol:
Class A Common: KAMNA

transfer agent
Mellon Investor Services, LLC
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606-1915
Telephone: (800) 227-0291
www.melloninvestor.com

information for shareholders
In addition to this Annual Report, shareholders 
may obtain the Form 10-K, filed annually with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission in March,
and other SEC reports via Kaman’s web site or from 
the Investor Contact.

kaman’s web site
Visit Kaman’s Home Page on the Internet,
http://www.kaman.com, to access a corporate 
overview, investor information, and our 
media center.

counsel
Murtha Cullina LLP
CityPlace
Hartford, Connecticut 06103

independent registered public accounting firm
KPMG LLP
One Financial Plaza
Hartford, Connecticut 06103

Q UA RT E R LY  C L A S S  A  C O M M O N  S T O C K  I N F O R M AT I O N

2004 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDEND

First $15.23 $12.57 $14.88 11¢

Second 15.49 10.91 13.99 11¢

Third 13.96 10.92 11.94 11¢

Fourth 12.93 10.71 12.65 11¢

2003 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDEND

First $13.24 $ 9.40 $ 9.78 11¢

Second 11.80 9.42 11.49 11¢

Third 14.91 10.72 12.96 11¢

Fourth 14.29 11.67 12.73 11¢

D I V I D E N D  R E I N V E S T M E N T  P R O G R A M

A Dividend Reinvestment Program is available for invest-

ment in Class A common stock. A booklet describing the

program may be obtained from the transfer agent by calling

(800) 842-7629.

ANNUA L  M E E T I N G
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on

Tuesday, April 19, 2005, at 11:00 a.m. at the offices of the 

corporation, 1332 Blue Hills Avenue, Bloomfield, CT 06002.

Holders of all classes of Kaman securities are invited to

attend; however, it is expected that matters on the agenda for

the meeting will require the vote of Class B shareholders only.

K-MAX, Gibraltar, Hamer, Latin Percussion, Ovation, Takamine and Toca are registered trademarks of Kaman Corporation.
Gretsch and Sabian are registered trademarks of others.

This annual report is printed in part on recycled paper.



We continued to implement our established, long-term growth
strategies while focusing on “lean thinking” practices throughout
the company. This commitment to staying the course, despite the
internal challenges and difficult marketplace conditions confronting
our Aerospace division, has delivered progress in every area,
positioning Kaman for long-term growth and prosperity.

2004
WAS A YE AR OF  
PROGRESS
FOR EACH OF OUR 
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
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